
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD AGENDA 
 

 
Tuesday, 14 December 2021 at 2.00pm – to be held virtually via Microsoft Teams 

 

From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey 

Item 
 

Business 
 

1   Apologies  

 
2   Minutes of last meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

 
The Board is asked to approve as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting held 
on 21 September 2021 

 
3   Education Annual Report (Pages 9 - 32) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 

 
4   Adoption Service Annual Report (Pages 33 - 36) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 

 
5   Health and Wellbeing of LAC Report (Pages 37 - 42) 

 
Report of the Designated Nurse, LAC – Newcastle Gateshead CCG 

 
6   Early Permanence Annual Report (Pages 43 - 48) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 

 
7   Children's Homes Report (Pages 49 - 58) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 

 
8   Care Experienced Service Annual Report (Pages 59 - 66) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 

 
9   Ofsted Focused Visit Outcome (Pages 67 - 76) 

 
Report of the Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 

 
10   Date and Time of Next Meeting  

 
Tuesday 1 March 2022 at 2.00pm 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Contact: Rosalyn Patterson - Email: rosalynpatterson@gateshead.gov.uk 
Tel: 0191 4332088, Date: Tuesday 7 December 2021 



 

GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD MEETING 

 
Tuesday, 21 September 2021 

 
 

PRESENT  

 Councillor Gary Haley (Chair) Gateshead Council 

 Councillor Angela Douglas Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Sheila Gallagher Gateshead Council 
 Councillor Freda Geddes Gateshead Council 

 Councillor Ian Patterson Gateshead Council 
 Nicola Barrass Care Leavers 

 Linda Hubbucks CCG 
 Lynne Colledge Northumbria Police 
 Dr Kate Ward CNTW 

 Sarah Diggle Secondary School Governors 
 Malcolm Hedley Foster Carers 

 Deborah Ewart Housing 
 Andrea Houlahan Deputy Strategic Director for Children 

Social Care and Early Help 

 Caroline O'Neill Strategic Director, Children's Adults and 
Families 

 Moira Richardson Public Health 
 Jean Thompson Virtual School Head for LAC 
 Jill Little LAC Service Manager 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Jon Gaines Service Manager, Quality Assurance - 

Gateshead Council 
 Rosalyn Patterson Democratic Services Officer - Gateshead 

Council 

 
 
1 APOLOGIES AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 

 The Chair Welcomed everyone to the first meeting of the Board and gave an 

overview of the aim of Board, introductions were made. 
  

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Hazel Weatherley and Kirsty Sprudd. 
  
 

2 CONSTITUTION  
 

 The Board received a report setting out the Terms of Reference of the Board. 
  
RESOLVED  -  That the terms of reference, membership and schedule of meetings 

be noted.  
  

  

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 
3 CORPORATE PARENTING PARTNERSHIP ACTION PLAN  

 

 A report was received providing the context of the Corporate Parenting Plan and 

Corporate Parenting Partnership Group.  The operational plan aims at ensuring 
strengths are built on to improve outcomes for all LAC. 
  

The Corporate Parenting Partnership Group meet on a quarterly basis. The Group 
will take forward recommendations from this Board and work towards the operational 

plan. 
  
Seven workstreams have been identified and all are underpinned by the principles 

of; 

 Co-production with children, young people, carers and other stakeholders 

 Focusing on the impact of any actions on the lives of children and young 
people in care and Care Leavers 

 Proactive solution focused approaches 
  
Key priorities have been identified for 2021, these are; 

  

 Education, Training and Employment –  
-        ensure all Gateshead children have an effective, high quality PEP 
-        develop a process to ensure all post-16 young people have a written 

career plan 
-        ensure consistency of engagement of post-16 young people with EET 

and to achieve 90% attendance 

  

 Health –  
-        Face to face health assessments and identifying health needs of care 

leavers 
-        Strengthen provision of emotional and mental health support and 

strengthen assessment of mental health needs on entering care 
-        Improve support to reduce unplanned pregnancies and the number of 

babies of care leavers coming into the care system 
  

 Participation –  
-        CMT to be delivered by young people to better understand the current 

challenges faced by children and young people 
-        Voice of the Child Audit to highlight areas for development and 

strengthen the voice of the child in LAC reviews 
-        Organisation of a virtual celebration event to recognise achievement 

during the pandemic 

  

 Placement and accommodation –  
-        Sufficiency planning within Gateshead  
-        Dovetailed with work on alternative education provision  

-        Develop the Shared Lives offer as an alternative to fostering and 

residential placements post 16. 

  
 

Page 4



 

 Care Leavers –  
-        Develop a multi-agency Care Leavers Group to consult with young people 

in order to improve service delivery  

-        Consult with young people regarding their transition to the Leaving Care 

team, accommodation and the SAILS panel process 

-        Consult with young people in relation to their awareness of entitlements as 
care leavers 

  
The Board was provided with the operational plan that sits under each workstream.  

The operational work has been under review since April and therefore some have 
been RAG rated. 
  

Concerns were raised around the opening of an adult shop in the centre of 
Gateshead and that as corporate parents there is no way of objecting unless the 

owners make an application for a license.  It was suggested that this should be 
considered by the Community Safety Board and the Safeguarding Partnership and 
that officers may wish to pick this up with neighbouring authorities which have been 

in a similar position. 
  

School attendance rates were questioned and it was confirmed that LAC attendance 
has fluctuated due to Covid outbreaks. Work is ongoing to improve attendance and 
is being closely monitored. 

  
The point was made that the link with schools is not explicit in the plan.  It was 

acknowledged that there are links with schools and that the Head of the Virtual 
School is a member of this Board. It was also confirmed that during the pandemic 
children were RAG rated in terms of their needs and therefore identifying which 

children needed to access schools. In addition keeping Foster Carers safe was also 
a consideration, although there was very little reluctance from Foster Carers in terms 

of allowing their foster children to attend school.  It was noted that the Virtual School 
Head works closely with the service and has close relationships with schools to 
ensure LAC are attending school or that they receive an alternative education offer. 

  
It was questioned whether checks are carried out regarding suitability for home 

learning when children are placed. It was confirmed that all placements go through a 
rigorous assessment which will ensure there is sufficient space, equipment and a 
supportive environment for learning. 

  
It was confirmed that Operation Endeavour is still in operation and ran throughout 

the pandemic. 
  
RESOLVED  -  That the Board noted the contents of the report. 

  
 

4 PLACEMENT SUFFICIENCY ANNUAL REPORT  
 

 The Board received a report outlining the challenges faced by Children’s Social Care 

in relation to placements for LAC. 
  

It was reported that there has been a rise in the LAC population at a time where 

Page 5



 

there is less placements available to offer. The number of LAC increased from 420 
to 454 at its peak in August 2020. Services are already stretched so this increase 

has had a big impact on the service itself. 
  

Over 80% of LAC are placed within the Borough and it is hoped that this number can 
be increased further. Work is ongoing to increase the number of Foster Carers and 
also to increase capacity within Children’s Homes and thus reducing the number of 

out of borough placements. 
  

Good progress is being made in terms of the recruitment strategy but there remains 
challenges in terms of placing for example; complex young people, teenagers, 
sibling groups.  In addition there is a need to look at placements for unaccompanied 

asylum seeking children as well as home-from-home placements and long-term 
carers.  It was acknowledged that this is a big task and a number of media channels 

are being used to promote this. 
  
In terms of residential homes, medium term financial funding has been secured to 

develop two further homes for children with complex needs and for those with the 
most challenging, high risk behaviours.  Planning applications are underway for 

these properties. 
  
It was noted that in terms of the regional and national picture, Gateshead is doing 

well, however there is still work to be done to bring more LAC back into Gateshead. 
  

The Board was advised that the service is not only experiencing an increase in the 
volume or young people in the system but also an increase in more complex young 
people. Therefore, there is more reliance on external providers to meet those needs 

which has costs associated and thus adds additional pressure onto the service. 
  

It was questioned whether the increase in complex cases is unique to Gateshead. It 
was confirmed that this is a national and regional issue with more complex cases 
requiring mental health services. Work is ongoing with partners as this has been 

recognised as part of a therapeutic need for more trauma based practice. Interviews 
have been held for a psychologist and specialist nurses, jointly funded through the 

CCG to develop services to support these LAC. 
  
It was also confirmed that this has been recognised by Health nationally and that 

what Gateshead is striving to do in terms of bringing more LAC ‘in-house’ is the best 
way forward. This offers more stability, thus less trauma to the child, and enables the 

child’s needs to be met more holistically than if they had been placed with a private 
provider. 
  

RESOLVED  -  That the Board noted the contents of the report and would give 
consideration to the frequency of updates to be received.  

  
 

5 MISSING FROM HOME ANNUAL REPORT  

 

 The Board received a report summarising missing from care episodes from August 

2020 to July 2021 and the assessment of risk for those young people at high risk of 

Page 6



 

exploitation. 
  

During the reporting period there were 861 missing episodes, of which 510 (just 
under 60%) were LAC. The highest number of these missing episodes were from 

residential provision. It was noted however that a large number of these missing 
episodes related to a small number of children who went missing on more than one 
occasion. 

  
All children who go missing are offered a Return Home Interview. A Return Home 

Support Worker has been in post for a couple of months and is making good 
progress in engaging with young people and building relationships through weekly 
visits to residential homes. It is hoped that this work, along with data from the police, 

will give a clear picture as to where the risk areas are. 
  

Although missing episodes have increased there is structure around this to try and 
reduce and to improve those young people’s understanding of keeping safe. Work is 
ongoing with police colleagues as well as MSET, where high risk cases are 

discussed. 
  

In terms of police work it was noted that Missing From Home Coordinators look at 
plans around the child to prevent missing episodes and then consider Return Home 
Interviews to ensure the right police disruption is put in place. 

  
It was reported that the uptake for Return Home Interviews was previously around 

34%, however now there is a dedicated post in place uptake has increased, with 
some young people actually requesting a return interview. The officer in post has 
100% success rate for Return Home Interviews and is an experienced practitioner of 

working with difficult to engage young people.  The officer is also targeting young 
people who repeatedly go missing and working to support their interests and 

hobbies as a way of disrupting future episodes. 
  
RESOLVED  -  That the Board noted the contents of the report and would give 

consideration to the frequency of updates to be received.  

  

 
6 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW  

 

 The Board received a report and presentation on performance data relating to LAC. 
  

It was reported that there has been a 5% increase in the number of LAC since the 
start of the pandemic. Research from the ADCS reflected a national picture of 
increasing demand during the pandemic.  Since March 2020 there has been a 16% 

increase in contacts received by the service, 28% increase in referrals an 18% 
increase in the number of children open across the service.  There has also been a 

29% increase in children subject to Child in Need Plans and 20% increase in the 
number of children on Interim Care Orders and 12% increase of children on Full 
Care Orders. 

  
The number of LAC, as at the end of July 2021, was 433. However, this figure 

reached 454 in August 2020, which is the highest ever in Gateshead.   

Page 7



 

  
It was noted that during the reporting period, 169 children entered care, 142 of which 

was for the first time, and 184 ceased being looked after. 54.3% were placed within 
Gateshead, however, there has been an increasing need for the use of agency 

foster placements with the number increasing from 35 in July 2020 to 52 in July 
2021. 
  

In terms of the age of LAC this remains similar to previous years with the majority of 
LAC being aged 10-15 years old.  In relation to placement stability, the proportion of 

children experiencing three or more placements in the last 12 months remains low at 
7.3%, this is below the national and regional average.  The proportion of children 
who have been looked after for 2.5 years or more and in the same placement for at 

least two years has reduced slightly to 69.2%, however this is still above the national 
average of 68.9%. 

  
184 children ceased to be looked after over the last 12 months. Special 
Guardianship Orders (SGOs) accounted for 32.6% of children ceasing to be looked 

after which is significantly higher than the national average of 13%. This increased 
demand has informed the development of the Kinship Care Team. 

  
It was suggested that a short case study be included in future performance reports 
and it was considered timely to include a case around kinship care in the next report. 

  
RESOLVED  -  (i)  That the Board noted the contents of the report and would give      

consideration to the frequency of updates to be received.  

  
 

7 ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 

It was agreed that the draft minutes from the Board would be shared with all elected 
Members as Corporate Parents in Gateshead. 
 

  
8 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  

 

 Tuesday 14 December 2021 at 2pm. 
 

 
 

 

Page 8



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

14 December 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: The Virtual School Education Report 
 

REPORT OF: Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
Purpose of the Report  

1. To seek the views of the Corporate Parenting Board on the work of the Virtual 

School in supporting and promoting the education of Children in Care, and all 
Children who have or have had a social worker.  

 

 
Background 

2. The following information will be provided 

 Virtual School Priorities 

 Current Children in Care context 

 Pupil Attainment and progress 

 Attendance and Exclusions 

 Pupil Premium Plus grant 

 Personal Education Plans 

 Support for Education 

 Care Leavers and Higher Education 

 The Extended role of the Virtual School Headteacher 

 Support to education during the Covid 19 Pandemic 

 
 
Proposal 

3. It is proposed that The Virtual Headteacher will produce and present a 
comprehensive education report for the Corporate Parenting Board.   

 
 
Recommendations 

4. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to agree the following recommendations 
following the report: 

 
The Virtual School will:  

 
a. Continue to promote the education of all children who have or have had a social 

worker and offer a high standard of educational support to all children in care  

 
b. Continue to maintain the high percentage of PEP reviews, and the timely return of 

all PEPs both in and out of borough and to continue to promote the importance of 
full attendance of all professionals at PEP meetings.  
 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 

c. Continue to provide appropriate intervention and provision for those Children in 
Care who have gaps in their education and also support those at risk of 

permanent exclusion to maintain their school place and to challenge where 
schools have not provided appropriate provision.  
 

d. Ensure that Pupil Premium Plus and the additional Pupil premium plus is 
allocated and used appropriately by schools and to challenge school to be more 

accountable for their use of the funding. 
 

e. Change the culture in schools, colleges and other services around responding to 

children with Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) and to make them the best 
they can be in managing and supporting this vulnerable group of children through 

the delivery of high quality training. 
 

 

 
 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact: Jean Thompson 

jeanthompson@gateshead.gov.uk 
 

  

Page 10

mailto:jeanthompson@gateshead.gov.uk


   

 

 
 

 
 

1 

 

 
 

 
 

GATESHEAD VIRTUAL SCHOOL 
 

Education Report to Corporate Parenting  

Board 

 
 December  2021 

 

 

 
 

 
Jean Thompson 

Virtual School Headteacher 

Page 11

http://www.gateshead.gov.uk/


   

 

 
 

 
 

2 

 

 
Gateshead Virtual School (VS)Priorities 
 

• Personal Education Plans 
• Pupil Premium Plus 
• Narrowing the Gap 
• Pupil progress and Attainment data 
• Teaching and Learning 
• Education enrichment 
• Reducing Exclusions 
• Extended VS Role 

 
 

Children in Care (CIC) Context  

As of 30/11/21 there were 445 Looked after Children in Gateshead between the ages of 0-18 
years old.  
 
 Children in care School Population  

The following tables provide an overview of the numbers of Gateshead LAC across a number of 

key stages, school and educational settings and also out of borough data where this has been 

available. 

Children in care Population  

The following tables provide an overview of the numbers of Gateshead CLA across a 

number of key stages, school and educational settings and also out of borough data where 

this has been available. 

Children in care Numbers in and out of Borough per statutory age 

 

Current 
Year Group Oct-19 Nov-20 Nov-21 

Year 11 25 34 39 

Year10  38 32 31 

Year 9 32 29 38 

Year 8 24 34 35 

Year 7 30 33 31 

Year6 28 31 21 

Year 5 26 23 17 

Year 4 12 20 17 

Year 3 14 18 26 

Year 2 11 17 19 

Year 1 12 15 14 

Reception 12 18 16 

Total 264 304 304 

                                       (Figures as of November 21) 

Page 12



   

 

 
 

 
 

3 

 

This year we have a larger cohort of Year 11 pupils. Children in Care after at Key Stage 4 
are challenging in terms of Social, Emotional and Mental health and access to education. 
They are often at risk of fixed term (FT) and/or permanent exclusion (PEX) The challenges 
and demands that this continues to place on service delivery is significant. The current 
Years 10 & 11 cohorts will dominate a substantial amount of service resource due to the 
complexity of need and corresponding support. 
 
 Children in care in Gateshead Secondary Schools 
 
 

School 

Gateshead 
LAC Nov 

20 

Gateshead 
LAC Nov 

21 
Cardinal 
Hume 4 8 
Emmanuel 
College 13 11 

Grace College 13 10 
Heworth 
Grange 8 9 

Kingsmeadow 9 9 

Lord Lawson 11 14 
St Thomas 
More 10 13 
Thorp 
Academy 4 8 

Whickham 7 4 

Total 79 86 

                                           (Figures as of November 21) 
 
 
 
The number of Gateshead CIC attending Gateshead secondary schools has increased from 
the previous academic year, there are currently 86 compared to the same time last year 
when there were 79. 
 
Lord Lawson of Beamish currently has the highest number of CIC 
 
Children in care Educated out of Borough 
 

Out of 
Borough 

Number of 
LAC 

Primary 26 

Secondary 36 

Special 18 

Total 80 

                                          (Figures as of November 21) 

Page 13



   

 

 
 

 
 

4 

 

 
 
26% of the total CIC population in Gateshead are educated and reside out of borough. The 
VS as increased its attendance at out of borough PEP reviews to ensure Personal Education 
Plans are completed. 
 
 Children in care Educated out of Borough across all Key stages 

 

Key Stage 
Out of 

Borough LAC  

Early Years    (Rec) 2 

Key Stage 1 (Year 1 & 2) 8 

Key Stage 2 (Year 3, 4, 5 
& 6) 21 

Key Stage 3 (Year 7, 8 & 
9) 36 

Key Stage 4 (Year 10 & 
11) 13 

Total 80 

                                               (Figures as of November 21 
 
Children in care educated out of Borough according to setting  

 
 

Number of out of borough 
Educational Settings 

Primary 21 

Primary Special 3 

Secondary 
(including 

middle) 
24 

Secondary 
Special 

10 

Total 58 

                                       (Figures as of November 21) 
 
The 80 Gateshead CIC educated out of borough are spread across 58 educational settings. 
 
 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) and CIC 
 

The following tables provide data relating to CIC with SEN, across a number of key stages 
and year groups. 
 
 

Page 14



   

 

 
 

 
 

5 

 

Year Group EHCP 
SEN 

Support 

Year 11 13 11 

Year10  13 5 

Year 9 10 6 

Year 8 13 8 

Year 7 6 5 

Year6 3 2 

Year 5 6 4 

Year 4 2 2 

Year 3 3 1 

Year 2 3 0 

Year 1 3 3 

Reception 0 0 

Total 75 47 

                                           (Figures as of November 21 from Emis) 
 
 
 
The table above gives a Breakdown of Children in care who have Special Educational 
Needs, there are 75 with Educational Health Care Plans and a further 47 who receive SEN 
Support in schools. The Virtual School supports all statutory processes  
 
 
 
Looked after Children School Attendance 

 
Due to the Coronavirus Pandemic, there are no school attendance figures for the period 
between September 20 – July 21. 
Many CIC were educated at home via online learning or carer support. The VSH redirected 
£200 of Pupil premium plus to every carer to support them with educational resources.  
 
 
Pupil Premium Plus Grant 2020-21 
 

The Pupil Premium Grant for Children in care has been increased to £2345 from £2300. 
for Children in Care for financial year 2020-21 and the role of the VS is to ensure that 
payments are received by school for each individual CIC entitled to the funding.  
 
In March/April 2021, each school (maintained and non-maintained but not private schools) 
received the following payments:  
 
£400 per term.  
£500 paid based on 2 completed Personal Education Plan review across the 20-21 
academic year. (statutory requirement)and documentation received by the Virtual School  
£45 per pupil additional money distributed to all schools. 

Page 15



   

 

 
 

 
 

6 

 

£600 to be retained by The Virtual School which is used for additional service delivery to 
Children in care and schools  
 
It is expected that schools will use this funding to:-  

 directly support the achievement and attainment of CIC  

 close the attainment and progress gap between CIC and their peers  

 support underlying issues and interventions for CIC who are at risk of exclusion, non- 
attendance and other issues that may affect learning  

 
All social workers and designated teachers must follow the Gateshead PEP processes in 
ensuring each CIC has an up to date quality PEP. The VS will monitor the compliance and 
quality assure every PEP creating an accurate list of qualifying schools for finance in 
accordance with the above expectations 
 
 
Private Tuition 

 
Within the period September 2020 - July 2021 a total of 21 Children in care received one to 
one Private Tuition or TA support totaling 880 hours. These session were arranged through 
a national Tutoring company. We also arranged some sessions through other Virtual 
Schools for some of our children placed in different areas of the country. The numbers 
receiving support have increased this year. 
The main requests for tutoring were for English, Maths and Science and was primarily 
targeted at Years 10 and 11 CIC to support those who were about to take their 
examinations, we also were able to offer tuition to Year’s 12 & 13 for students who were due 
to re sit their examinations 
The Coronavirus Pandemic has increased the need for support for all CIC so this year we 
have also been offering individual support to some Children in Care in younger age groups.  
We would envisage this continuing to be the case for the foreseeable future. 
Virtual Schools are now able to access the National Tutoring Programme (NTP)  
 
 
 
Personal Education Plans (PEPS) 
 

Gateshead’s PEP process runs across two periods during the year, April and May and 
October and November each year. Data is drawn from each period to analyse the number of 
returns, the quality and accuracy of documentation is rigorously checked in order to identify 
any specific actions forCchildren in Care between the ages of 3 and 16. 

 
The below data shows the returns for the total number of CIC that required a PEP during 
October/November 2020. 

 

 

Age range Number 
3-16 322 

Post 16 56 

  
 
Overall, there are 56 Post16 young people but 3 of those declined to agree to have a PEP. 

 

Page 16



   

 

 
 

 
 

7 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
The below data shows the returns for the total number of CIC pupils that required a PEP 
during March/April 2021. The number of PEP returns during this period were the highest 
the service has ever received. Maintaining this will be a priority moving forward. 
 

Age range Number 
3-16 338 

Post 16 46 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-16 years 

Number of CIC 
In Borough 

 Number of CIC 
Out of Borough 

239  83 

3 – 16 Completed PEPs 
% PEPs returned 

In Borough 
 % PEPs returned 

Out of Borough 

82%  69% 
% PEPs not returned 

In Borough 
 % PEPs not returned 

Out of Borough 

18%  31% 

Post 16 Completed PEPs 

% PEPs returned 
 

 %  PEPs not returned 
 

76%  26% 

3-16  
Number of CIC 

In Borough 
 Number of CIC 

Out of Borough 

248  90 

3 – 16 Completed PEPs 
%  PEPs returned 

In Borough 
 % PEPs returned 

Out of Borough 

95%  80% 

% PEPs not returned 
In Borough 

5 
 

 % PEPs not returned 
Out of Borough 

20% 
 

Page 17



   

 

 
 

 
 

8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Gateshead Virtual School have set windows of October/November and March/April in 

the school year when they expect PEP reviews to be held. Some PEPs may be 

received outside one of those windows because of changes to pupil circumstances 

e.g. move of care or school place or cancel of review due to other circumstances.  

 Due to the unforeseen Covid 19 Pandemic, PEP’s have taken place via several 

methods, for example Teams meetings and conference calls. A small number of 

schools held physical meetings strictly following government Covid guidelines. This 

has enabled the Virtual School team to have attended more meetings this year than 

in previous years.  

 Throughout last year we have faced many unexpected challenges largely due to 

Covid-19 and it was necessary to adapt our approach to ensure we received a 

completed PEP for children looked after in Gateshead and beyond to enable us to 

continue to monitor their progress and attainment in education. The PEP team have 

been very successful in overcoming challenges and this is evidenced by the rise in 

the percentages of PEPs returned. 

 We now have a fully digital PEP process. We will continue to review the changes and 

reflect on the successes and areas for improvement 

 

  Educational Attainment 

 
Gateshead's Children in care Year 11 Cohort 2020=2021 was 37 Children, below is a table 
showing results for their GCSE/Equivalent Results. 
 

37 Looked after 
Children 

No of 
Children Percentage 

      

5 (9-4) 12 32% 

      

5 (9-1) 19 51% 

      

5 (9-4) inc M&E 9 24% 

      

1 (9-1) 31 84% 

      

SEN 16 43% 

Post 16 Completed PEPs 
% PEPs returned 

 
76% 

 % PEPs not returned 
 

24%  

 

Page 18



   

 

 
 

 
 

9 

 

 
This has been another unprecedented year in terms of Education with schools being locked 
down again because of the coronavirus pandemic. The Government took the decision that 
this year’s examination results would be based on teacher assessment gradings which were 
submitted by the schools, these were calculated using a series of tests that the children 
completed and also previous work they had undertaken during the course of the year. 
 
 
Evaluation 

  

  

  

19 Children in care achieved 5 x GCSE Passes at Grade 1 or above.   
 
12 Looked after Children achieved 5 x GCSE Passes at Grade 4 or above.   
 
9 Children in care achieved 5 x GCSE Passes at Grade 4 or above including English & Maths. 
 
31 Children in care achieved 1 x GCSE Passes at Grade 1 or above. 
 
16 (43%) of the Cohort were SEN  

 

12 (32%) of the cohort attend Special Schools or Alternative provisions and were not 
expected to make 5 (9-4). 
 
 
 
 
The table below gives a comparison with the results from 2019/20 
 

 

2019/20 
Cohort 

(25) Percentage 
2020/21 

Cohort (37) Percentage 

        

5 (9-4) 4 16 12 32 

      

5 (9-1) 14 56 19 51 

      

5 (9-4) inc 
M&E 2 8 9 24 

      

1 (9-1) 21 84 31 84 

      

SEN 14 56 16 43 

 

 

Page 19



   

 

 
 

 
 

10 

 

The cohort for this year 2020/21 had a lower ratio of SEN children with 43% compared to 
56% in 2019/20. 
5 (9-4) including English & Maths – this is significantly higher with 24% achieving this in 
2020/21 compared to 8% in 2019/20. 
5 (9-1) – this has slightly decreased to 51% in 2020/21 compared to 56% in 2019/20 
5 (9-4) – This is another area which has increased this year with 32% achieving this 
compared to 16% in 2019/20 
1 (9-1) – this has stayed exactly the same as last year with 84%. 
 
The comparison I have completed above shows that the results are higher or equivalent in 3 
categories compared to the previous year. Only one category had a lower percentage. 
Over all, the results are positive especially particularly under the challenging circumstances. 
 
 
Gateshead's Children in care Year 11 Cohort was 37 Children for 2020-2021, below is a 

table showing results for their GCSE/Equivalent Results. 
 

37 Children in care 
No of 

Children Percentage 

      

5 (9-4) 12 32% 

      

5 (9-1) 19 51% 

      

5 (9-4) inc M&E 9 24% 

      

1 (9-1) 31 84% 

      

SEN 16 43% 

 
 
 
This has been another unprecedented year in terms of Education with schools being Locked 
down again because of the coronavirus pandemic. The Government took the decision that 
this year’s examination results would be based on teacher assessment gradings which were 
submitted by the schools, these were calculated using a series of tests that the children 
completed and also previous work they had undertaken during the course of the year. 
 
Evaluation 

31 Children in care achieved 1 x GCSE Passes at Grade 1 or above.  
 
19 Children in care achieved 5 x GCSE Passes at Grade 1 or above.   
 
12 Children in care achieved 5 x GCSE Passes at Grade 4 or above.   
 
9 Children in care achieved 5 x GCSE Passes at Grade 4 or above including English & Maths. 
 

Page 20



   

 

 
 

 
 

11 

 

16 (43%) of the Cohort were SEN  

 

12 (32%) of the cohort attend Special Schools or Alternative provisions and were not 
expected to make 5 (9-4). 
 
The table below gives a comparison with the results from 2019/20 

 

 
2019/20 

Cohort (25) Percentage 

2020/21 

Cohort (37) Percentage 

        

5 (9-4) 4 16 12 32 

      

5 (9-1) 14 56 19 51 

      

5 (9-4) inc M&E 2 8 9 24 

      

1 (9-1) 21 84 31 84 

      

SEN 14 56 16 43 

 
 

The cohort for this year 2020/21 had a lower ratio of SEN children with 43% compared to 
56% in 2019/20. 
5 (9-4) including English & Maths – this is significantly higher with 24% achieving this in 
2020/21 compared to 8% in 2019/20. 
5 (9-1) – this has slightly decreased to 51% in 2020/21 compared to 56% in 2019/20 
5 (9-4) – This is another area which has increased this year with 32% achieving this 
compared to 16% in 2019/20 
1 (9-1) – this has stayed exactly the same as last year with 84%. 
 
The comparison shows that the results are higher in 2 areas compared to the previous year, 
stayed the same in 1 area and were slightly lower in 1. 
Overall the results are positive especially under the challenging circumstances they were 
achieved due to the coronavirus pandemic. 

 
 
 

                     Children in care Key Stage 1 Results 2020 
 

Gateshead Year 2 Children in care Cohort was 20 Students, below is a table showing results 
of their end of year assessments. 

 
 

Page 21



   

 

 
 

 
 

12 

 

All LAC Including Out of Borough Schools         

Number Achieving Expected Level 11 12 10 10 
Number in Cohort 20 20 20 20 

% Achieving Expected Level         

Writing  55      

Reading   60     
Maths      50   

Reading,Writing & Maths       50 
 
 

The Cohort for 2020-21 was 20. 
4 Children were SEN – 20% of the cohort. 
11 out of 20 children (55%) gained the expected level in writing 
12 out of 20 children (60%) gained the expected level in reading 
10 out of 20 children (50%) gained the expected level in maths 
10 out of 20 children (50%) gained the expected level in Writing, Reading & Maths 
 
 
 

 Children in care Key Stage 2 ( Results) 
 
Gateshead Year 6 Looked after Children Cohort was 33 Students, below is a table showing 
results of their end of year assessments. 
 

 

All LAC Including Out of Borough Schools         

Number Achieving Expected Level 18 20 21 17 
Number in Cohort 33 33 33 33 

% Achieving Expected Level         

Writing  55       
Reading   61     

Maths      64   

Writing, Reading and Maths       52 

 
The Cohort for 2020-21 was 33, this is a larger than average group of students. 
11 Children were SEN – 33% of the cohort. 
18 out of 33 children (55%) gained the expected level in Writing 
20 out of 33 children (61%) gained the expected level in Reading 
21 out of 33 children (64%) gained the expected level in Maths 
17 out of 33 children (52%) gained the expected level in Writing, Reading & Maths 
 

KS 1 and 2 children did not sit SATS exams and so attainment has been based on Teacher 
assessment 
The above results show end of year levels base on Teacher assessments. 
It is not possible to do a comparison with the previous year as no results were reported last 
yea 

Page 22



   

 

 
 

 
 

13 

 

Educational Outcomes and Progress 

Primary 

A priority for The Virtual school 2010/20 is to progress and performance as well as outcomes 

for pupils. Below is an example of how progress and performance is monitored; 

Key: 

RED     – Working at below age related expectations (ARE) 

Amber – Emerging /working towards ARE 

Green  -  Working below ARE 

 

Pupils progress and performance can be closely monitored enabling the VS to provide early 

intervention for those e pupils working below ARE. 

 

This is an example of how we use PEPs to monitor progress: 

          

  End of Year 4 End of Year 5   

Name School Reading Writing Maths Reading Writing Maths   

MM Colegate Expected Expected Expected ARE ARE ARE   

ME 
Riverside 
Academy YR4 Secure YR4 Secure YR4 Secure 

YR5 
Developing 

YR5 
Developing YR5 Secure   

KJ Bil l  Quay YR4 Emerging YR4 Emerging 
YR4 

Emerging 
Working 
Towards 

Working 
Towards 

Working 
Towards   

LR Eslington YR4 Exceeding Yr4 Expected YR4 Expected Yr5 Expected 
YR5 

Emerging Yr5 Expected   

WG High Spen PAT 1 PAT 1 PAT 1 PAT 1  PAT 1 PAT 1   

KJ Lobley Hill  YR4 Emerging YR4 Emerging 
YR4 

Emerging Yr5 Emerging Yr5 Emerging Yr5 Emerging   

FK 

St Margarets c 

of E Primary YR3 Expected YR3 Expected YR3 Expected YR5 Expected YR5 Expected 
YR5 

Expected   

RC 
Toy Top Farm, 
Darlington Yr1 Developing Yr 1 Emerging 

Yr 1 
Emerging Yr1 Emerging Yr1 Emerging Yr1 Emerging   

KW 

Red Rose 
Primary, 
Durham ARE ARE ARE 

Greater 
Depth ARE ARE   

OM 

Stephenson 

Memorial  
Primary 4 Secure 4 Developing 4 Secure 

Working 
Towards  ARE ARE   

CD High Spen YR3 Expected YR3 Expected YR3 Expected PAT 3 PAT 2 PAT 2   

CF 
The Dales 
Primary 2c 3c 3d 

YR2 
Developing 

YR2 
Developing 

Yr3 
Developing   

LB 

Portobello 

Primary YR3 Expected YR4 Expected YR3 Expected Below ARE Below ARE Below ARE    

Page 23



   

 

 
 

 
 

14 

 

DA 
Bexhill  
Academy 3 Developing 3 Developing 3 Developing ARE ARE ARE   

CP St Philip Neri 4 Developing 4 Developing 4 Developing 5 Secure 5 Secure 5 Developing   

CH Eslington Yr4 Emerging Yr3 Emerging Yr3 Emerging Yr5 Emerging Yr4 Expected Yr5 Emerging   

CH Eslington Yr4 Emerging Yr3 Emerging Yr3 Emerging Yr5 Emerging Yr4 Emerging 
YR3 

Exceeding   

OB 
Riverside 
Academy YR4 Secure YR4 Secure YR4 Secure 

YR5 
Developing 

YR5 
Developing 

YR5 
Emerging   

AN 
Hill  View 
Juniors YR3 Emerging Yr3 Emerging 

YR3 
Emerging 4- 3+ 5-   

MS St Aidans YR3 Emerging Yr3 Emerging 
YR3 

Emerging ARE ARE ARE   

EC 
Parkhead 
Primary ARE ARE ARE ARE ARE ARE   

NR South Street ARE ARE ARE YR5 Emerging 
YR5 

Emerging 
YR5 

Emerging   

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
Care Leavers and Higher Education 
 
The National perspective 
 

Access to higher education is much lower for young people who have been in care. In 2018 -
2019 only 13% of pupils who were looked after continuously for 12 months or more entered 

higher education compared to 43% of all other pupils. The continuation rate is currently 5.6% 
 
Gateshead statistics 
 

2019 2020 2021 

 Care leavers   

126 105 106 

   

 University  

2019 2020 2021 

                10                      19    15 currently 

   

      5 graduated 

      20 in total 

              12.6%                 18%           21.2% 

 
Gateshead Council Leaving care team have had an increasing number of care leavers in 
Higher education which has been rising steadily over the last 3 years from 10 to 20 in line 
with trends nationally over the last decade.  

Page 24



   

 

 
 

 
 

15 

 

There has been a decrease in overall numbers of care leavers open to Gateshead Leaving 
care team with a total of 126 in 2019 , 105 in 2020 and 106 in 2021. 
Success rates are high and most young people graduate successfully though some do 
change courses after the first year.  
 
The table above details an overall number of care leavers at university this year. Of those, 5 
completed their courses and graduated in the summer. 15 have either returned to university 
to complete their course or started in their first year. 
 
This shows that percentages of overall cases in 2019 were line with the National average.   
increasing to significantly higher than National average (13%) in 2020 and 2021 with 12.6% 
in 2019 , 18% in 2020 and 21.2% in 2021. This is currently 14.5% at 15 young people at 
university this term with 5 having graduated. 
Gateshead Virtual School continue to financially support students in their first year at 
university when they receive an HE bursary of £2,000. 
 

 
Exclusions - December 2021 

 

To date there have been 0 Permanent Exclusions.  Fixed Term Exclusions are higher than 
we would like, however the Virtual School (VS) has implemented a more robust system and 
has improved the monitoring system, the VS wholly relies on schools providing Fixed term 
exclusion data. This is not consistent and relies on the team to remind schools to forward the 
information.  There continues to be anagreed understanding across schools in Gateshead 
that no CIC should receive a permanent exclusion.  

We monitor those children who may be at risk of being permanently excluded and this 
enables the VS to identify patterns of exclusions allowing the necessary support to be 
implemented and resources to be offered  

Main reasons for Fixed term Exclusions: 

1. Persistent refusal to follow instructions. 

2. Consistent low-level disruption 

3. Verbal abuse towards adults and pupils. 

4. Non-compliance. 

5. Truancy. 

6. Swearing at staff and pupils. 

7. Physical assault against members of staff and other pupils. 

8. Damage of property. 

9. Bullying. 

10. Absconding 

 

 

During the period, (Sep 2020 – Sep 2021) 20 children in care received fixed term exclusions, 
accumulating to a total of 31 fixed term exclusions. This equates to 83.5 days of missed 

education. This is an average of 2-3 exclusions per week. The children in care who received  
fixed term exclusions ranged from Year 4 to Year 12 across 12 different schools. The 
schools with the highest number of exclusions have been targeted by the Virtual School to 
provide the right support in order to prevent reoccurrences in the future.  

Page 25



   

 

 
 

 
 

16 

 

Going forward, The Virtual School will continue to support and challenge schools to manage 
the needs of those complex children who continue to be at risk of exclusion. 
 
 
 
 Home Learning support – Treasure Chest 

This is a new resource that the Virtual School has developed to replace the former Letter 
Box Programme. Treasure Chest aims to inspire a love of reading and engagement with 
numeracy. The packs include a variety of books, Math’s games and fun activities that Carers 
and children can enjoy together at home. They are fun and engaging and the first Treasure 
Chest Pack delivery was made in July 2020. Pack Number 2 delivery is December 2021  
 
Feedback is positive from both Foster Carers and pupils. This feedback shows how, in the 
early stages, the Treasure Chest packs are being well received and a full evaluation is to be 
carried out flowing the receipt of pack 2. We hope that it will have a positive impact on 
children’s learning not only at school but in the home.   

 
 
 Education Support 

 
The VS now has three Education support workers. The very recent third appointment has 
significantly added to the qualities and strength of the team.  Their skills and qualifications 
include Counselling, Thrive, Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, Trauma and Attachment, 
Psychology and Theraplay  All have significant experience in supporting children both in 
secondary and primary schools. They continue to provide flexible support to our most 
complex young people to successfully access education  
 
 
 Education Enrichment Programme  
 

The VS has developed an Education Enrichment Programme that aims to help to engage 
pupils in education and provide experiences beyond that of the classroom. We offer a 
comprehensive programme of outdoor activities ranging from water sports to Archery and 
rock climbing. The programme is offered to Key stage 3 and 4 children predominantly; 
however some upper key stage 2 children have accessed the activities.   
The programme to date has been very successful in encouraging young people to engage 
more successfully in, and in some cases, re-engage with education. 
Participation in these activities is meant to enrich and widen their life experiences, 
encourage them to learn to trust adults and build meaningful relationships through team 
building. The programme runs all year round including during the school holidays. 
 

 
Education Employment and Training (EET) 

The joint monthly EET meeting between Gateshead Virtual School and Social Care has 
continued to identify and plan work with young people who are NEET or who are at risk of 
becoming NEET. External partners are also part of this group to improve monitoring and 
target work to be done with the young people. These include Gateshead and Newcastle 
College, Learning & Skills and Early Help’s Careers Advisers as well as a job coach from 
Economic Wellbeing.  

Page 26



   

 

 
 

 
 

17 

 

 
Post 16 Destinations 
 
 

2021 Data as of 23.11.21 
 

Year Groups 
(size of cohort) 

Year 12 
(39) 

Year 13 
(27) 

Year 14 
(39) 

Progression routes 

6th form 6 1 3 

College 14 12 16 

Study Programme/ 
Traineeship 

3 8 1 

Apprenticeship  1 4 

NEET 11 5 7 

University/HE level course   3 

Work   4 

Work (including part time) 4   

Combined care and education    

Not available to the work place/ 
Other 

  1 

Volunteering 1   

 
 
Work Experience for Children in care 

 
The Pathways2Work (P2W) project supports Looked After Young People in year 10 – year 

13 to find work experience during their school/college holidays within a real working 
environment. The aim is to help to improve their chances in life by developing the skills 
needed for future careers. It can also improve their confidence and helps them to learn more 
about a particular career before finalising their plans.   
A young person can work for a period of one day to several weeks. They are supported to 
help identify the correct type of placement suitable to their needs.  
 
 
Pathways2Work Participation (Feb 2020 – October 2021 
Employees have not been willing to support placements for CIC during the Pandemic. 

 
 
 
Work Experience  
The Pathways2Work (P2W) project supports Looked After Young People in year 10 – year 

13 to find work experience during their school/college holidays within a real working 
environment. The aim is to help to improve their chances in life by developing the skills 
needed for future careers. It can also improve their confidence and helps them to learn more 
about a particular career before finalising their plans.   
A young person can work for a period of one day to several weeks. They are supported to 
help identify the correct type of placement suitable to their needs.  

Page 27



   

 

 
 

 
 

18 

 

 
 
Raising Aspirations 

Gateshead Virtual School continues to work with the North East Raising Aspirations 
Partnership, to try to improve young people’s knowledge and experience of university. This:  

 

 
Previously Looked After and Adopted Children 

 
For previously looked-after and Adopted children, the Virtual school head teacher (VSH) 
continues to be the source of advice and information to help their parents and advocate for 
them as effectively as possible. The VSH provides this advice and responds to parent and 
school queries as required. This has already resulted in visits to schools and phone queries 
from parents. 
Further funding has been made available to develop the VSH role for previously Looked 
after and adopted children and the planned offer of a wider service to parents. E.g. network 
meetings, training sessions such as Attachment training, SEND and education information 
has not taken place due to Covid. However, plans are currently underway to resume this. 
The VS has provided tuition for several Adopted children to support their education 
The VSH continues to liaise with Adopt North East.  
 
 
Education Psychology  

 
The Virtual School EP is involved in liaison with the Educational Psychologists in Gateshead 

around their work with looked after children in the schools that they cover. She has also 
been directly involved in casework and facilitating statutory processes with a number of 

looked after young people who have not been able to access an Educational Psychologist 
input through the usual school route linked to changes in care and education placements.   

 
The Educational Psychologist is involved in consultation around case work with members of 
the Virtual School Team and has worked with the Virtual School Deputy Head to develop a 
proforma for planning and monitoring of individual pupil focused intervention caried out by 
case workers.  
 
The Education Psychology role has involved delivering training to secondary school staff 
and foster carers. The training has focused on supporting young people who have 
experienced trauma and attachment difficulties with regard to their education. Advice and 
consultation support has also been offered to schools. 
 
During the National Lockdown the EP developed an information resource to support carers 
linked to the specific needs of children in care and young people in relation to the pandemic.  
 
During summer term 2021 the Virtual School Educational Psychologist co-ordinated and 
supervised transition work carried out by 3 Assistant Educational Psychologists to a support 
some of the most vulnerable Year 6 pupils to make a positive transition to secondary school. 
The work involved completion of a transition document which we developed based on 
evidence from the resilience literature. This document provided schools with information 
about strengths, areas of development, strategies and targets.  Some pupils also completed 
individual work with the assistant EPs which was tailored to their specific needs and 
concerns around transition. 

Page 28



   

 

 
 

 
 

19 

 

 

The EP is involved in planning and delivering of training as part of the current DFE pilot for 
Children with a Social Worker.  A secondary school focused training package regarding 
trauma informed practice has been developed and will be offered to all secondary schools in 
Gateshead to run in conjunction with Virtual Reality Training. Alongside this training package 
a resource pack is being developed for all Gateshead schools which contains information 

and advice about trauma informed practice as well as helpful practical resources.  
 
 

Virtual School Head Extended Role 

 
In June 2021, the DfE published non-statutory guidance outlining how Virtual School Heads 
should become strategic leads in promoting the education of children with a social worker. 
This was to be implemented in September 2021. Funding has been allocated and is 
confirmed until March 2022.  

 
The main aims of this extended role are to help to: 
 

 Make visible the disadvantages that children with a social or those who have had 
a social worker can experience, this includes children looked after and previously 
looked after. 

 Promote practice that supports children’s engagement and attendance in 
education 

 Level up children’s outcomes and narrow the gap in attainment so every child 
can reach their full potential.  

 
The VS is beginning to roll out a robust training programme to all Teachers, 
practitioners and across a wide range of services in Gateshead in Trauma 
informed practice using Virtual reality technology. 
Kingsmeadow Secondary school are currently running a pilot programme.  
 
The outcomes expected are: 

 Increased attendance not only in attending school but increased 
attendance in lessons when in school which in turn should improve 
attainment.  

 Reduced Fixed Term Exclusions  

 Reduction in managed moves and use of alternative provisions to avoid 
permanent exclusions.  

 
 
Education Support during COVID   

  
What went well?  

  
 The VS maintained full normal team working with weekly Case meetings 
(Microsoft Teams) throughout the Lockdown. Team members were provided with 
the resources required to work from home.   
 The VSH and VS Manager monitored the team’s health and wellbeing 
throughout.   

Page 29



   

 

 
 

 
 

20 

 

 Every Foster Carer who has a Gateshead child in their care was allocated a 
member of the VS team to monitor and support the child and family during the 
lockdown period including those residing out of borough.  
 Weekly calls were carried out by all team giving the carers the opportunity to 
discuss any concerns they had. Carers were encouraged positively to provide 
wider educational experiences for children rather than solely focusing on 
Academic subjects.  
 Feedback from Carers has been very positive, and they valued the 
opportunity to share any concerns they may have had.     
 For those high priority Looked After Children i.e., those with a high level of 
SEMH who continued to attend two of the Specialist provisions, 
i.e. Eslington school and River Tyne Academy, the Virtual School placed a VS 
Education Support Worker to offer additional and bespoke support within those 
settings.   
 The VSH arranged to redirect £200 of Pupil Premium Plus to every Foster 
Carer in order to contribute to or reimburse any costs related to the 
wider home education of children and young people in their care. This included 
payment to Independent Agencies to be transferred to those carers of Gateshead 
Children both in and out of borough.   
 Care homes in Gateshead received a £50 Amazon Voucher for every young 
person in their care.   
 For those more complex pupils who were in crisis or were experiencing 
adverse difficulties, the VS provided close monitoring and more frequent contact 
with the young people and their carers.   
 Intense support was offered to those more challenging pupils who continued 
to disengage with education and the rules of lockdown etc. and for pupils who 
were placed with carers who, either through self isolation, shielding or illness 
were unable to offer outdoor recreation / activities. Successful outcomes were 
achieved for several of the pupils.  
 Examples:  

a. A pupil who refused to attend school or engage with any form of 
education was encouraged and supported through a sensitive phased 
approach, to being to access some online learning. This progressed so well 
that this pupil is now attending school.   
b. A young boy, living with carers who needed to shield was offered 
opportunities to go cycling regularly with a member of the team   

 The VS team provided advice, guidance, support and online learning 
resources to support children and carers.   
 In order to assist schools in complying with their statutory duty to complete a 
PEP. A revised COVID PEP was produced in order to reflect the current 
situation.  
  For those pupils working below ARE, the VS monitored (and challenged 
where necessary) the levels of work and expectations for the pupils.   
 A Trauma informed return to school leaflet was produced by the Assistant 
EP’s.  This was disseminated to schools and is available on the virtual school 
website.   

  
  
What would we do differently next time?  
 Throughout the lockdown period there was a low percentage of Children in Care 
attending school. The decision was largely decided by the Foster Carers and the 

Page 30



   

 

 
 

 
 

21 

 

Social Worker. In order to prevent gaps in learning widen further for these children 
the VS will focus on raising the percentage of children attending school through 

closer liaising with Social Workers and carers.   
The VS received some concerns from carers that the work that schools were sending 
home was too challenging and in some cases causing behavioural issues. The VS 
will endeavour to liaise more closely with the Designated teachers 
to encourage effective monitoring of online work and differentiation.   

As some Looked After Children found the transition back to school somewhat 
challenging, the VS will endeavour to develop a more robust system of 
transitional support with the involvement of the VS Education Psychologist.    

 
 
 

Recommendations for The Virtual School 2021-2022 
 

1 To maintain the high percentage of PEP reviews, and timely return of all PEPs both 
in and out of borough and to continue to promote the importance of full attendance of 
all professionals at PEP meetings.  
 

2 Continue to provide appropriate intervention and provision for those Children in Care 
who have gaps in their education and also support those at risk of permanent 
exclusion to maintain their school place and to challenge where schools have not 
made appropriate provision.  
 

3 To ensure that Pupil Premium Plus and the additional Pupil premium plus is allocated 
and used appropriately by schools and to challenge school to be more accountable 
for their use of the funding. 
 

4 To change the culture in schools and colleges and services around responding to 
children with Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES) and to make them the best 
they can be in managing and supporting this vulnerable group of children. 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

DATE:  14 December 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Adoption Report 2020/2021  
 

REPORT OF: Strategic Director, Children, Adults and Families 
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

 

1. To seek the views of the Corporate Parenting Board on the attached report: 
 
 
Background 
 

2. The Local Authority are responsible for securing permanency for those children 
who, for reasons of their safety and welfare are unable to live within their birth 
families and whose needs are such that adoption has been judged to be the best 

permanency option for those children. 
 

 Policy Background: 

 1989 Children Act  

 Adoption Acts 2002, 2014 & 2017 

 Public Law Outline (2014)  

 Children & Families Act (2014) 
 
Proposal 

 

3. It is proposed that the local authority continue to work towards adoption as the best 

outcome for some children for whom we act as corporate parents.  
 
 
Recommendations 

 

4. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to consider this report and make any 
recommendations for action as judged necessary. 

 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact: Chris O’Reilly, Practice Leader, Safeguarding and Care Planning Service.  
0191 4333865 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



 

Adoption in Gateshead 2020 – 2021 
 

Adoption is the legal process in which the parental responsibility (PR) for a child 
is transferred from their birth parent or other persons with PR to the adopters. 
Gateshead council, in common with the five other regional local authorities 

(Newcastle, Northumberland, North Tyneside and South Tyneside) are required 
to use the services of Adopt North East, the Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) to 

recruit, assess and approve adopters for the children for whom a plan of adoption 
has been made. 
Adopt North East (ANE) replaced the council’s own adoption team in December 

2019. 
 

The Safeguarding and Care Planning Service is responsible for intervening to 
safeguard children, assessing families, and making decisions about whether 
adoption is the most suitable plan for permanency if the child cannot be cared for 

safely and appropriately within their family of birth. All decisions about adoption 
are ratified by the Assistant Strategic Director for Children and Families and the 

Family Court makes the ultimate decision if a child should be adopted, by the 
making of a Placement Order. The child is then freed for adoption and may be 
matched then placed with adopters who thereafter can apply for an Adoption 

Order once the child has been in their care for ten weeks or more. Until the 
Adoption Order has been made, the child remains the responsibility of the local 
authority and is classed as a Looked after Child. 

 
In making the decision about whether the child should be adopted, social workers 

and the courts must satisfy themselves that “nothing else will do” and that all 
avenues have been explored with regard to that child being cared for by someone 
in their birth family network. 

 
In the last 12 months (01/10/2020 – 30/09/2021) the average number of days 

between a child entering the care of the local authority and moving in with an 
adoptive family is 358. 
It is clearly in the child’s best interests to minimise the time spent waiting in foster 

care and decisions are taken as soon as possible but with proper regard to 
assessing birth family thoroughly and ensuring all due processes are firmly 

adhered to.  
 

Of the 93 children who ceased to be Looked After in the last 12 months 

(01/10/2020 -30/09/2021) eight were adopted (9%). 
 

Babies and children under the age of three are most likely to have a plan of 
adoption and this is because of a number of reasons, most commonly that 
adopters overwhelmingly choose to adopt younger children. Older children are 

more likely to retain allegiance to their birth parents or, because of the trauma 
they have suffered by being in their parent’s care, have attachment difficulties and 

display behaviour associated with childhood trauma. 
 

Currently in Gateshead, older children who have a plan of adoption also have 

younger siblings. For example, one seven-year-old is currently in an adoptive 
placement alongside her four-year-old sister. Ten-year-old and one-year-old 

siblings are currently awaiting adopters to be found who can take them as a 
sibling group. 

 

 

Page 34



 

Statistical Information: 
 

Table 1: The number of children with a plan of adoption referred by 
Gateshead’s Safeguarding and Care Planning Service to Adopt North East 
in 2019/2020 and 2020/2021:  

 

Year The number of children with a plan of adoption referred by 
Gateshead’s Safeguarding and Care Planning Service to Adopt 

North East 

2019 - 2020 22 

2020 - 2021 21 

 
 

Table 2: The number of children for whom a Placement Order was made in  
2019/2020 and 2020/2021:  
 

Year The number of children for whom a Placement Order was made 

2019 - 2020 20 

2020 - 2021 27 

 
 

Table 3: The number of children matched with adopters in 2019/2020 and 

2020/2021: 
 

Year The number of children matched with adopters 

2019 - 2020 16 

2020 - 2021 20 

 

 
Table 4: The number of children matched with non ANE adopters in 

2019/2020 and 2020/2021: 
 

Year The number of children matched with non ANE adopters 

2019 - 2020 2 

2020 - 2021 4 

 

The Regional Adoption Agency has not achieved sufficiency of adopters which 
leads to children being placed outside of the region by other adoption agencies 

nationally. Those children for whom local adopters cannot be sourced are usually 
older children, those in sibling groups and those who have additional needs or 
health problems. This incurs additional expense for the local authority; each 

single child placed with ‘interagency adopters’ costs around £35,000 with any 
subsequent siblings at an additional £17,000.  
 

 
Table 5: The number of children who have been adopted (Adoption Orders 

Made) in 2019/2020 and 2020/2021: 
 

Year The number of children who have been adopted (Adoption Orders 

Made) 

2019 - 2020 21 

2020 - 2021 24 

 

Page 35



 

 
Gateshead saw a small rise in the number of children for whom Adoption Orders 

were made between 2019/20 and 2020/21. The transition between the council’s 
adoption team to that of the Regional Adoption Agency may have had an impact 
on numbers in 2019/20. It is also of note that early concerns about the impact of 

the Covid-19 pandemic upon access to family courts for Adoption Orders did not 
materialise and the courts worked hard to maintain this element of their work. 

 
In the last 12 months (01/10/2020 – 30/09/2021) Gateshead has seen 28 children 
adopted. Two children (4%) have a disability. 

 
Twenty-eight children have been waiting for adoption in the last 12 months, while 

a decision to reverse the adoption plan for one child has been made. In 
2020/2021 the number of children with a plan of adoption reversed was three. 
The reasons for reversal were that either a Placement Order was not made by the 

court (one child) or that the child’s needs changed subsequent to the decision 
being made (two children.) This evidences that Gateshead is actively reviewing 

permanency decisions in the best interests of children. 
As of September 2021, there were 8 children placed in Foster to Adopt or Early 
Permanence placements. The twenty-eight children waiting for adoption includes 

those children in Early Permanence placements. 
There have been no disruptions (adoptive placement breakdowns) for any 
Gateshead children from 2019 to date. This evidences that assessments of the 

child’s needs and matching processes have been thorough and accurate. 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 36



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

14 December 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Health and wellbeing of Looked After Children 
 

REPORT OF: Designated Nurse LAC, Newcastle Gateshead CCG 
 

 
Executive Summary  
 

This report gives an overview of the work undertaken and planned, to meet statutory 
requirements and to support the health and wellbeing of Looked After children and by 
association care leavers in Gateshead 
 
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

1. To seek the views of the Corporate Parenting Board on the delivery of services 

supporting the health and wellbeing of Looked After Children 
 

2. To update Gateshead Corporate Parenting Board on the progress achieved against 

the key objectives, within Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group 
(NGCCG) Looked After Children Strategy 2019-2022, within the previous 12 

months. To note this was a period where all health services were impacted on by 
the Covid 19 pandemic, which continues to give challenges in the delivery of 
services.  

 

3. Extracts from NGCCG Looked After Children / Children in Care Annual Report 
2020-2021 will outline the key components relating to Gateshead and an update on 

recent progress will be given.  
 

4. Updates will be given on the delivery and achievement against Key performance 

indicators (KPIs) for health and against the statutory functions undertaken by the 
Looked After Children Health Team commissioned by NGCCG 

 

5. Updates on service delivery pertaining to the emotional and mental health needs of 

the Looked After Children population will be extracted from information provided by 
colleagues in Cumbria Northumbria Tyne & Wear (CNTW) Children and Young 
Peoples Services (CYPs)  

 
 
Background 
 

6. As commissioners of health services Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) continues to fulfil its role in meeting the statutory health needs of 
looked after children (DoH / DfE 2015) by having appropriate arrangements and 

resources in place 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



 

7. NGCCG commission the statutory roles of Designated Nurse Looked After Children 
who are employed by the CCG, the Designated Doctor Looked After Children and 

the Looked After Children Health Team who are employed by Gateshead health 
Foundation Trust (GHFT) see appendix 1 for structure  

 

8. The past year has seen ongoing challenges to engage with children and young 

people in care and their carers against the backdrop of the ongoing Covid 19 
pandemic. Health assessments have been returned to face-to-face appointments, 
unless risk assessments have indicated a virtual appointment more appropriate.  

 

9. An increase in activity was measured for health assessments 2020-21. 152 Initial 
health assessments (+2%) and 410 Review health assessments (+4.6%) were 

completed in this period. 
 

10. An ongoing plan is in place to improve the overall timeframe for Initial health 

Assessments. At end of March 2021 this timeframe was measured at 65.3%, a 
reduction on the previous year (87.3%). Clinic appointments were provided to 

98.6% within 28 days of consent. The CCG target for both elements is 95%.   

 

 

 
11. End of March 2021 98% of review health assessments were completed within the 

month due, an improvement of the previous year (91%) and meeting the CCG 
target of 95% 
 

12. April 2020-March 2021 33 (100%) leaving care health passports were completed 
for young people turning 18. 

  
13. Health Key performance Indicators (KPI's) for physical health 2019-2020 were 

published December 2020 and more recently the 2020-2021 has been published. 

Recent (March 2021) data demonstrates that Gateshead achieved higher than the 
England and Northeast returns for completion of health assessments, 

Developmental checks, immunisations and dental appointments. 
 

 ENGLAND NORTH-EAST GATESHEAD 
 18-19 19-20 20-21 18-19 19-20 20-21 18-19 19-20 20-21 

ID substance issue  4% 3% 3% 4% 3% 3% 8% 10%  6% 
Health assessment 90% 90% 91% 95% 92% 94% 97% 98%  97% 

Immunisations  up to 

date 

87% 88% 86% 94% 92% 89% 95% 97%  94% 

Dental  check 85% 86% 40% 87% 86% 43% 96% 94%  55% 

Developmental check 88% 88% 89% 87% 86% 92% 100% 97%  100% 

 
 

Page 38



 

14. KPI published for emotional health and wellbeing based on Strength and difficulty 
screening undertaken by the Local Authority demonstrates improvement to the 

coverage of screening, overall total score, and number of children and young 
people achieving a 'normal' score. The overall score and normal results are still 
lagging behind the England and Northeast average but the gap is closing 

incrementally.  
 

 ENGLAND NORTH-EAST GATESHEAD 

 18-19 19-20 20-21 18-19 19-20 20-21 18-19 19-20 20-21 
SDQ complete 78% 81% 80% 73% 75% 75% 83% 81%  84% 
Average score  14.2 14.1 13.7 14.1 14.2 13.9 15.9 15.3  14.3 

Normal  49% 49% 51% 48% 49% 50% 36% 42%  47% 

Borderl ine 12% 13% 12% 15% 13% 12% 16% 12%  10% 

Cause for concern 39% 38% 37% 37% 39% 38% 48% 46%  43% 

 

15. CNTW, CYPs continue to offer consultation sessions, this moved to online 

appointments during the Covid 19 restrictions, ensuring this vital support continued.  
2020-21 56 Children and young people from Gateshead were discussed covering a 
wide age range with a higher ratio of males being referred in.  The main theme was 

emotional wellbeing, with behaviour, neurodevelopmental issues, cognitive ability 
and care planning also recorded as themes for referral. The main outcome 

recorded was advice and recommendations with only a small minority requiring 
referral. A small minority sought second consultation in this time period. 

 

Current position and proposals  

 

16. In Quarters 1 & 2, 2021-22, 73.5% of initial health assessments were completed in 

timeframe and 88.5% were offered a clinic appointment within 20 days of receiving 
consent. 79% of appointments were completed face to face. Those completed by 
virtual means will have face to face follow up if clinically indicated. Timeframes are 

reported monthly and reviewed quarterly at the Local Authority performance 
management meeting.   

 

 
 

17. In quarters 1&2 2020-21 93% of review health assessments have been completed 
within the month due. There have been pressures within the 0-19 service which 

have seen some delays in the cohort that they complete and additional delays with 
appointments being rearranged due to infection and or isolation .  A monitoring tool 

is in place to measure performance on a monthly basis. 91% of appointments were 
completed face to face. 
 

18. The Designated Doctor and LAC health team continue to undertake regular audit to 
ensure that the health assessments produced are of a good quality. 

Page 39



 

Recommendations from audit provide a continuous improvement framework to 
support all practitioners undertaking this work.  

 

19. CYP Consultation data for Qarters1 & 2 2021-22 records 37 consultations for 

Gateshead children . Advice and recommendations were provided in all 
consultation sessions with resources being sent via email and summary letters 

being supplied.  Once again only a minority required signposting or onward referral. 
Feedback is now collected from professionals referring into this process and 
although a small response most feedback is positive. All felt it was easy to arrange 

and useful to have this opportunity for in depth discussion. 75-83% felt it provided 
something different, was helpful to identify concerns, understand the impact of past 

experiences, clarified intervention to use and helped a specific aspect of the child's 
care plan. 67% found it was a timely response although there were comments 
about difficulty in accessing in a crisis. 92% felt consultations online were 

convenient. 
 

20. Two practitioners with clinical expertise in trauma and mental health have now 

been recruited to work into the local authority residential care homes and will start 
in post in January 2022. The role of the Principal Clinical Psychologist and 
Advanced Practitioner will be to embed trauma-informed care within these 

environments, and provide training, assessment, formulation and signposting to 
appropriate services. The practitioners will apply the six principles of the NHS 

England Framework for Integrated Care listed below 
1. Every Interaction Matters: There is a focus first on building and supporting 

positive collaborative relationships. 
2. Children and Young People and the relationships they experience are at the 

centre of al care they receive through genuine co-production. 
3. Those spending most time with young people are the primary facilitators of 

change. 
4. Positively influencing the day-to-day care is the basis of any intervention and 

primary focus of support. 
5. All behaviour is understandable in context; there is a focus on developing an 

understanding of each CYP’s behaviour and needs based on their story. 
6. There is a commitment by all to build and sustain trauma-informed organisations. 

The practitioners will also be responsible for creating a robust plan for data 

collection to demonstrate the positive outcomes of the service. 
 

21. A review of the LAC health team and wider service has been undertaken by the 
CCG. This has been helpful in identifying the increase in workload for the team and 
the paediatric service. A proposal has been drafted and will be reviewed and 

responded to by commissioners. 
  

22. A project developed with NHS England funding, to gain views of Care Experienced 
Young People on their health needs, stalled by Covid, was resurrected at the 
beginning of 2021. This was undertaken across Newcastle and Gateshead. Young 

People worked with Digital Voice to create a video, using avatars, to describe some 
of the challenges faced and support required relating to their health needs. This 

video was premiered with the young people involved and then shown as part of a 
follow up panel event. We are currently analysing the feedback from this event and 
there is a lot of activity by a variety of agencies exploring the issues raised and next 

steps. We aim to report back to the young people, who participated in this project, 
and the wider audience on the progress made.  

 
23. Link to the Young Peoples video https://youtu.be/H0aKQGtQ7KM 

 

Page 40

https://youtu.be/H0aKQGtQ7KM


 

24. Link to the panel event https://youtu.be/YZE7PZGFI8A 
 

25. Gateshead LAC health team continue to populate their database with data from 
both initial and review health assessments. This is helpful in identifying need within 

the LAC population i.e., EHCP, and gives direction to the future developments 
required to strengthen health provision for LAC and care leavers. 

 

26. The Designated Nurse LAC has contributed to the Speech and Language Service 
review in Gateshead. Within the recommendations LAC are identified a cohort who 
need enhanced support. We anticipate service development from this report.  

 

27. The Designated Doctor LAC has had initial conversations with the Community 
Dental Services in Gateshead. It is hoped to develop a pathway for LAC within this 
service, future meetings are planned for early 2022.  

 

28. The Specialist Nurse LAC is leading on a development in partnership with Sexual 
Health Services in Gateshead to identify the needs and enhance support to our 

young people with a key aim of delaying pregnancies. 
 

29. Many will be aware that the structure of the health service is changing and that as 

of 1st April 2022 CCGs will no longer exist. Integrated Care Systems are the new 
service model which it is hoped will provide closer multiagency working and a focus 

on local populations. It is not envisaged that this will impact on current services in 
place for Looked After Children 
 

30. Recruitment to the Named Doctor LAC and the medical advisor for Adoption within 
Gateshead hospitals is ongoing. The organisation continues to seek opportunities 

to incorporate the role into recruitment of Paediatric posts. The designated Doctor 
LAC is currently acting as Medical Advisor Fostering to ensure the work continues.   
 

31. Training and resources for Primary Care have been developed; seven-minute 
briefings on looked after children and on care leavers have been shared with all 

Gateshead practices. Safeguarding training recently delivered, had enhanced 
information on requirements and vulnerabilities of children and young people who 
have had experience of being in care.  

 
 
Proposal 

32. It is proposed that the themes within NGCCG LAC Strategy 2019-2022 and the 
Corporate Parenting workplan continue to provide the framework for continuous 

improvement in health service delivery to Looked After Children in Gateshead.  
 

 
Recommendations 

33. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to comment on the content of this report 

and advise on the frequency of future reports  
 

 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Contact:  
Linda Hubbucks 
Designated Nurse Looked After Children   
Tel Mob: 07769362016 
Email: Linda.hubbucks@nhs.net 

Page 41

https://youtu.be/YZE7PZGFI8A
mailto:Linda.hubbucks@nhs.net


 

  
 

 
 
Appendices  
Appendix 1  
Looked after Children Team Structure  

 
Newcastle Gateshead CCG Gateshead Foundation Trust NHS Hospital 

Designated Nurse LAC (Job share)  
Linda Hubbucks  
Ellen Robinson  

Designated Doctor LAC 
Dr Eleanor Dawson 

 Named Nurse LAC 

Jean Hubble 
 

 Specialist Nurse LAC 
Maxine Duffy  

 

 LAC Admin  
Claire Young 
Anji Monaghan  

 

 Secretarial Support  
Lesley Thompson  

 
 

 

Page 42



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

DATE: 14 December 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Early Permanence Report 2020/2021  
 

REPORT OF: Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

 

 
1.    To seek the views of the Corporate Parenting Board on the attached report: 
 

 
Background 

 

2.     The Local Authority are responsible for securing permanency for those children 
who, for reasons of their safety and welfare are unable to live within their birth 

families and whose needs are such that placement with foster carers, with a plan of 
adoption (early permanency) has been judged to be the best permanency option 

for those children. 
 
Early Permanence Planning is crucial if the local authority is to avoid delay in  

achieving stable and permanent care arrangements for the children in their care. 
This report describes the Early Permanence process and the arrangements 

Gateshead’s Children, and Families Service has in place, to ensure children are 
not waiting unnecessarily for planning processes and court agreements to be 
complete before they are placed in their permanent placements. 

 
Policy Background: 

 

 1989 Children Act 

 Adoption Acts 2002, 2014 and 2017 

 Public Law Outline (2014)  

 Children & Families Act (2014) 

 
 

Proposal 
 

3.     It is proposed that the local authority continue to place suitably assessed children 
under early permanence arrangements.  
 

 
Recommendations 

 

4.     The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to consider this report and make any 
recommendations for action as judged necessary. 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



 

 
Early Permanence 

 

5. Early permanence is an umbrella term which includes both Fostering for Adoption  
and Concurrent Planning.  Both schemes enable the local authority to ensure that 

permanent care arrangements are secured for the child as quickly as possible. 
Fostering for Adoption enables the local authority to find foster parents for children 

who are willing to adopt them at a later date if the courts decide they cannot return 
to live with their birth family.  It is aimed at helping babies whose birth families are 
still being assessed as to whether they can look after their baby or not. 

 
 
How does Early Permanence work? 

 

6. The local authority refers babies about whom there are concern regarding the care 

they may receive from their birth family to the Regional Adoption Agency, Adopt 
North East.  If appropriate and agreed, the local authority places the babies with 

foster carers who have already been approved as adopters. This means they can 
go on to adopt the baby if the courts decide he or she cannot live with their birth 
family. 

 
Early Permanence avoids the risk that the baby may be moved from foster carer to 
foster carer while the local authority and the courts assess the birth family’s ability 

to look after him or her.  National data tells us that time taken from the baby being 
placed into local authority foster care to being placed with their adoptive family 

usually takes between six and twenty-four months.  Once an order has been made 
in court which allows the child to be adopted (Placement Order) he or she can then 
be matched with adopters. 

 
Under the Public Law Outline (2014) and the Children & Families Act 2014, 

guidance states that court care proceedings should be completed within 26 weeks, 
to be sure that children are not being unduly kept waiting for their permanence 
plans to be legally agreed. 

 
Gateshead local authority and Adopt North East will only place babies under Foster 

to Adopt or Early Permanence arrangements when, based on the available 
evidence and the birth family’s history, there is a high probability that the court 
decision for the child will be adoption. The evidence upon which social workers 

make their decision to recommend a foster-to adopt placement usually includes 
previous siblings being removed from the parent’s care and subsequently no 

evidence of improvement in the circumstances of the birth family. 
 
 Benefits of Early Permanence  

 

7. Because the foster carers with whom the baby is living have already been 

approved to adopt the baby it means there is a seamless transition from foster care 
to adoption. 
 

In the last 12 months (01/10/2020 – 30/09/2021) the average number of days 
between a child entering the care of the local authority and moving in with an 

adoptive family is 358. 

Page 44



 

 
It is clearly in the child’s best interests to minimise the time spent waiting in foster 

care; Early Permanence eliminates the waiting period for children. 
 
Other advantages of Early Permanence are:- 

 

  It speeds up the planning of babies’ lives and avoids delay in deciding their 

future 
 

  It avoids the disruption of being moved from foster care to adoption or from 

foster carer to foster carer. 
 

  Bonding with the people who will eventually adopt him or her can begin right 
away – in many cases the baby is placed with the Early Permanence carers 

directly from the hospital where he or she was born 
 

  The foster carers who go on to adopt will have had a chance to get to know 

the baby’s birth parents during the court process.  This means they will know 
all about the baby’s background and the circumstances that led to him or her 

being placed in care 
 

  It strengthens the attachments between the child and their adopters and 

avoids disruption to attachment between the child and their foster carer. 
 

For those children for whom Early Permanence placements are inadvisable 
because their specific family circumstances may mean that an outcome of adoption 
at court is uncertain, Gateshead Council has systems in place to ensure that 

children are placed with their adopters or in a permanent care arrangement as soon 
as possible.  For unborn babies whose siblings have previously been removed from 

parents care because of safeguarding concerns, planning begins before the child 
has been born, initially by completing an Unborn Baby Assessment and acting 
upon the findings of that assessment. 

 
For all children, if safeguarding concerns are so great that care outside that of their 

parents is necessary, a Legal Gateway Meeting will be held immediately, and legal 
proceedings will begin.  Thereafter, a period of concurrent planning will begin.  This 
means that parents and other family members or persons connected to the child 

will be assessed regarding their suitability to offer permanent care of the child.  This 
will happen alongside a referral to Adopt North East and planning for possible 

adoption. 
 
To avoid any unnecessary delay in securing a child’s plan for permanence, the 

child’s Independent Reviewing Officer will seek assurances about the permanence 
plan for the child at their second Looked After Review.  This takes place no later 

than four months after the child has become looked after by the local authority. 
 
An additional measure of quality assurance is the Early Permanence Panel, which 

is chaired by the Deputy Strategic Director for Children and Families.  The panel is 
attended by Service Managers, Team Managers, and local authority Lead Solicitor. 

Relevant data regarding children who are in the care of the local authority and 
those who are the subjects of court proceedings is presented and individual cases 
are scrutinised.  

Page 45



 

 
 

The length of court proceedings and the reason for any delays understood so that, 
if possible, measures can be taken to avoid similar delay in the future.  Sometimes, 
however, timetabling by the court builds in delay to children’s plans so that they 

sometimes wait in local authority care longer than necessary and their permanence 
arrangements are delayed. 

 
Following the assessments of parents and any other family members, firm plans for 
the long-term or permanent care of the child will be agreed.  This will take place in 

a Decision-Making Meeting, that includes social workers, service and team 
managers and the local authority legal representative.  The plans will ei ther be for 

adoption, long-term fostering or placing a child with another family member through 
a Special Guardianship Order or a Child Arrangements Order. 
 

Agreement for Early Permanence and all adoption plans are agreed by Deputy 
Strategic Director for Children and Families before recommendations about each 

child are made to the court.   
 
 
Table 1 : 
 
The number of Gateshead children placed in Early Permanence Placements 

during the year 2019/2020 and 2020/2021. Year- end total. 
 

Year  Gateshead Children placed in Early 

Permanence Placements (Foster to Adopt) 

2019/2020 4 

2020/2021 9 

Total 13 

 
From 2016 until 2019, Gateshead’s Safeguarding and Care Planning Service had placed 

seven babies under the Foster to Adopt or Early Permanence arrangements. All seven 
babies were adopted successfully following the period of fostering by their adopters. 
 
Table 2: 
The number of children placed in Early Permanence Placements during the year 

2020/2021 by regional authority. Year-end total. 
 

Year  Regional Authority North East Children placed in 

Early Permanence Placements 
(Foster to Adopt) 

2020/2021 Gateshead 9 

 Newcastle 1 

 North Tyneside 4 

 Northumberland 1 

 South Tyneside 4 

 

As can be seen from the table above, Gateshead leading the region with regard to Early 
Permanence arrangements. All children placed for adoption under early permanence 

arrangements whose care proceedings have concluded have been successfully 
adopted. None have been reunified with parents.  

Page 46



 

 
Table 3: 

Total number of children with a plan of adoption during the year 2019/2020 and 
2020/2021. Year- end total. 
 

Year  Gateshead Children with a plan of Adoption. 

2019/2020 22 

2020/2021 21 

Total 43 

 
Out of all the plans for adoption during 19/20 and 20/21, 13 out of 43 (30%) were 
early permanence placements.  

 
Recommendation 

 

8. It is requested that the Corporate Parenting Board note the contents of this report 
and raise any questions about the Early Permanence process if thought necessary. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Contact: Chris O’Reilly, Practice Leader, Safeguarding and Care Planning Service.  
0191 4333865. 

 

 
 

Page 47



 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 48



 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

14 December 2021 

 
TITLE OF REPORT:    Update on Gateshead Children’s Homes to include 

                                            Inspections by OFSTED, Regulation 44 visits and  
                                            placement sufficiency 
 

REPORT OF:   Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director, Children Adults and 
Families 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

This report outlines Ofsted inspection framework, policy context and outcomes of 4 
inspection visits to our Residential Children’s Homes which took place between May 2021 
and August 2021.  

 
The report notes inspection judgement, highlighting requirements and recommendations 

as well as some positive feedback from all 4 inspections 
 
The report also outlines the feedback from Regulation 44 visits to all of our Children’s 

Homes between December 2020 and November 2021, which notes many positive areas 
as well as highlighting some issues and actions.  

 
The report will also provide information about developments within the service, linked to 
the placement sufficiency strategy for 2018 -2021 

 

 
POLICY CONTEXT  

 

1. The statutory requirements under the Care Standards Act 2000, in particular the 
Children’s Homes Regulations 2001 amended with new Children’s Homes 
Regulations and Standards in April 2015. When the new framework of regulations 

and standards were introduced Ofsted also changed the inspection framework for 
children’s homes.  

 
2. Children’s Homes are regulated services and inspected by Ofsted. Historically there 

have been at least two unannounced Ofsted inspections every 12 months, however 

the Social Care Common Inspection Framework (SCCIF) was introduced by Ofsted in 
April 2017 and one of the inspection principles is to prioritise the work where 

improvement is needed most. If leaders and managers have shown that they can 
consistently deliver services for children well, they may decide to return less often or 
do a more proportionate inspection.  

 
3. They inspect children’s homes that were judged inadequate or require improvement 

to be good at their last full inspection at least twice in each inspection period (from 1st 
April – 31st march). 

  

 

  

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



 

 
4. Ofsted carry out at least one full inspection of homes that were judged as outstanding 

or good during a year-long inspection period. 
 

5. They carry out an initial risk assessment for every children’s home judged as good or 
outstanding at the start of the inspection year to inform an initial decision of whether 
these homes will be subject to a second inspection (interim) in addition to a full 

inspection. 
 

This takes into account: 
 

 the most recent interim inspection 

 reports received under regulations 44 and 45 

 notifications received under section 40 

 information from complaints, whistle-blowers, and local authorities 

 changes to the home’s management 

 any other relevant information 
 

6. Ofsted can choose to visit unannounced at any time in addition to these inspection 
episodes and within Blaydon’s children’s home we experienced this.  

 

7. On a monthly basis unannounced independent visits are undertaken as required 
within the regulations for each children’s home, the outcomes of these visits are 

reported to Ofsted every month.  
 
Blaydon Children’s Home 

 
8. Blaydon children’s home is a five-bed long term provision for young with complex 

needs. They currently have five young people in placement, consisting of three males 
and two females. The home has experienced a number of challenges in the last 12 
months, resulting in an unannounced visit by Ofsted in February 2021. In this visit 

Ofsted focussed on risk and risk management, following several statutory 
notifications that they received from the home. They were satisfied that the home was 

safe and well managed, and the home went from being deemed as high risk to 
medium risk 

 

Ofsted Inspection 
 

9. Blaydon Children’s Home had a full inspection on 8th and 9th June 2021. They 
received an overall judgement of “GOOD”, with 2 requirements and 2 
recommendations. 

 
Requirements 

 

 Provide the children living in the home the physical necessities they need in order to 
live there comfortably. This particularly refers to ensuring support is provided to 

children to help them acquire the skills to keep their bedrooms clean and tidy. 
 

 The registered manager needs to monitor and review of children’s records to ensure 
they are accurate, individualised and up to date. 

  

Page 50



 

 
Recommendations 

 

 The registered person should ensure that refurbishment and maintenance is carried 

out in order to help children live in the home comfortably.  
 

 The registered person should ensure that staff have the skills for safeguarding which 

enables them to record, identify and maintain dynamic risk assessments that are 
specific to the individual child needs 

 

10. The requirements and recommendations have already been acted upon and progress 
will be evidenced when Ofsted do their next inspection. 

 
11. Positives highlighted in the full report 

 

 Children are making progress in all aspects of their care.  

 Young people have developed strong relationships with the staff.  

 Observations during the inspection and feedback from professionals and 
children were very positive. 

 Staff advocate strongly for children to be provided with an education. 

 Children who find it difficult to attend are supported to re-engage in schools or 

alternative forms of education. As a result, children are making progress from 
their starting points.  

 Staff support children to maintain family relationships. Staff provide transport, 
supervision and emotional support when required. This helps children to feel 

safe and promotes their confidence and sense of identity. 

 Children enjoy activities with each other and with staff.  

 Children receive consistent guidance and support from the staff in keeping safe. 

 Staff are proactive in managing children’s challenging behaviours. 
Police intervention is the last resort. As a result, the home is settled, 

and children are developing trusting and respectful relationships with 
the staff. 

 The staff are experienced and knowledgeable in understanding 
children’s behaviours.  

 They respond well to safeguarding concerns.  

 They provide a warm and open atmosphere.  

 The manager knows the children and takes time to build positive, trusting 

relationships with them. Children and professionals spoke about his good 
communication and availability to listen and support children. 

 
Longside House 
 

12. Longside House has been open since 27th January 2020. It is a 6 bedded Children’s 
Home, with one of the beds being a semi –independent flat 

 

13. The young people living in Longside house are aged 13 -18, with 3 females and 3 
males currently living there  

  

Page 51



 

 
Ofsted Inspection 

 

14. Longside House received a monitoring visit from Ofsted in February 2021, and they 

had their first full inspection on 23rd and 24th August 2021.  
 

15. The overall judgement for Longside House was one of “Good” with 1 requirement 

and 4 Recommendations. 
 

The Requirement is under reg 12 and links to smoking/health and safety. This linked 

to the 18-year-old who is in the staying put flat going out of the side door and lighting 
a cigarette before leaving the premises and inspector was in the conservatory and 

saw this. 
 

16. Recommendations –  

 Record keeping – needs to show where updates have been made as not all 
records have these. 

 

 Staff to ensure young people attend their appointments – good evidence of 

them making appointment but not hat is being done when they refuse to attend. 
  

 Health – specifically smoking and educating young people. 
 

 Record keeping in general -some excellent examples but not all of the same 

standard 
 
17. Positives highlighted in the full report include: 

 Children receive a warm welcome when they move into the home and are 

supported through well planned inductions where their voice is heard and acted 
on. 

 The home is well presented, and children have individualised their rooms which 

gives them a sense belonging and pride in the home. 

 Staff understand the needs of the young people well, and young people receive 

an individual approach in meeting their needs. 

 Children and parents speak positively about the staff and the quality of care 

being provided. One parent said “communication is amazing, we are working as 
a team and that is what I like”. 

 Risk assessments and concise safety plans are in place, are targeted and 

proactive, supporting both emotional and physical needs and as a result 
children become increasingly safe. 

 Protocols for Missing from care were clear and demonstrated collaborative, 
multi-agency working. 

 Managers model good practice in their positive approach to the young people 

  Professionals were positive about the home, with one professional commenting 

“They are really professional, and it is clear children are at the centre of decision 
making. Care is of a high standard”. 

 The manager consistently reflects on her own practice and that of her team to 

ensure that overall performance and quality of care provided to children 
improves. 

  

Page 52



 

 
18. For a first inspection this was very positive, and the recommendations have already 

been progressed 
 

Kites Rise  
  

19. Kites Rise was opened in April 2020 and was registered with Ofsted under the  

COVID amendments in July 2020 
 

20. This home was identified to be opened under the Service/Councils medium term 
financial strategy / 5-year plan to increase our in house provision, however it needed 
to be opened earlier than planned due to service need 

 
21. Kites Rise is a 3 bedded therapeutic Children’s home in Chopwell and currently looks 

after 3 females aged between 12 and 17 
 

22.  They received a monitoring visit from Ofsted in February 2021, which was positive 
 

23. Inspection - and had their first full inspection on 17th and 18th August 2021. They 

received an Overall Judgement of GOOD with no requirements and 5 

recommendations 
 
24. Recommendations 

 

 Garden area – could be better utilised. 

 Storage in young people’s rooms – need more. 

 Some areas in the house need refurbishing – carpets and painting and more 

personal touches are needed. 

 Supervisions – ensure they are frequent and meaningful. 

 IT – issue with IT crashing and the inspector not being able to access records 
 
25. Positives highlighted in the full report include: 

 

 Well planned introductions happen before admission. 

 Staff are attentive and nurturing in their approach. 

 Support to young people is tailored to meet their needs. 

 Staff work well with other professionals to achieve best outcomes for the young 
people and proactively take part in care team meetings. 

 Risk assessments and behaviour support plans are thorough, resulting in 
children feeling safe and secure within the home. 

 Protocols for Missing from care were clear and the home has good working 
relationships with the police and missing from care co-ordinator. 

 Staff celebrate children’s achievements and as a result, children are excelling. 

 Family time is managed and supported by staff. 

 Children are actively involved in planning activities and outings, developing 

confidence in their social interactions. 

 The management team have aspirations for the children, which are evident in 

the work undertaken within the home. 

 A range of professionals commented on the high level of  care and attention to 

detail the manager and the staff apply to the cate of the children, which supports 
the progress children make. 

  

Page 53



 

 
26. For a first inspection this was very positive and most of the recommendations were 

already in hand. The only thing we might need support with from the Council is the IT 
issues, which have been an issue since we took on the property. 

 
Grove House Children’s Home 

 

27. Grove House is a short break provision for children with disabilities. It is currently 
providing short breaks to 62 young people. In previous inspections Grove House was 

judged to be “outstanding” in all areas with no requirements or recommendation 
 
28. Inspection - in this inspection Grove House, were downgraded to GOOD, which was 

very disappointing for everyone. 
 
29. The home received 2 requirements and 2 recommendations 
 
30.  Requirements: 

 

 The manager is not addressing the infrequency of supervision across the staff 

team. 
 

 Record keeping to be consistent (regulation 37) – the inspector was not logged 

into the daily log book on the first day of inspection (was signed into visitors 
book). Also 2 parents who upon collecting children’s belongings agreed to have 

a quick chat with the inspector and they were not logged in. 
 
31. Recommendations: 

 

 Reg 44 visits – not enough opportunity for children to express their own views, 

wishes and feelings due to a number of visits when children have been at 
school.  Also, there is not enough consultation with parents/carers and 

professionals. 
 

 Supervisions – there is inconsistency in how frequently staff are supervised. 

This relates to care assistants and waking night staff.  
 

32. Positives Highlighted in the full report 
 

There were a number of positives highlighted in the full report, which include: 

 

 Children are cared for by and experienced and knowledgeable staff team. 

 Feedback from parents was very positive. 

 Parents and young people have positive and meaningful relationships with the 

staff team, with young people are valued and listened to. 

 Staff communicate well with families, young people and other professionals. 

 The home is bright and welcoming and decorated to a high standard, taking into 

consideration the sensory needs of the young people. 

 Young people feel safe and secure. 

 Risk assessments are detailed and easy to read. 

 Introductions to the home are managed well. 

 The manager is passionate and has a clear vision for the service. 
  

Page 54



 

 

 Staff team are stable and staff recruitment, induction and training is well 

evidenced Whilst this judgement is disappointing and feels rather harsh, as the 
report highlights the positives in relation to experiences children have and the 

excellent care they receive,  
 
The requirements and recommendations have been acted upon and I am confident  the 

home will return to Outstanding at the next inspection 
 
33. Grove House Sustainability 

 
As part of Grove House’s sustainability, traded beds are essential, and we were in a 

position where we 4 local authorities were using the resource. This has been 
exceptionally difficult during Covid and the service needs to be credited with how it 

has managed as it is one of the only short break services that has remained open 
during the pandemic. Numbers of young people staying at Grove House had to be 
reduced from 6 per night to 3 per night, in line with a comprehensive risk assessment.  

All families that required a short break received one, able it on a reduced number of 
nights. Families have told us how important this was for them and the manager and 

the team worked hard to accommodate all requests. The number of young people 
allowed to stay every night has increase and the manager is trying to accommodate 
all external requests as she understands how important it is to generate income for 

sustainability of Grove House. We are however now in a position where we cannot 
accept all external referrals as this would result in some of our young people/families 

not getting a service they require as the needs for short  breaks for our Gateshead 
families has increased. 
 

34. Regulation 44 Reports 

 

All of the children’s homes are visited at least once a month by an independent 
person, who completes a comprehensive report which is signed and agreed by the 
registered manager, the service manager and the Assistant Director. These reports 

are then sent to Ofsted and form part of their oversight on how the homes are 
running, what issues have been raised and what the service and managers are doing 

about these 
 

35. There have been changes in all of the Children’s home over the last 12 months with 

young people moving in and a new staff joining the teams, as well as a new home 
opening.  

 
36. The Reg 44 reports demonstrate that this has not had an impact on the running of the 

homes and that there are improved outcomes for the young people in terms of 

engagement with staff, spending more time in the homes and engaging positively with 
each other. There has also been an improvement in attendance at education, training 

and employment and for most young people missing episodes have reduced.  
 

37. The Reg 44 reports have been very positive, however there are themes that come out 

across our 3 full time provisions, which include 
 

 Paperwork for new admissions needing chasing up 

 monitor emerging patterns of missing 

 Support young people to understand risks and lifestyle choices 

  

Page 55



 

 

 Encourage young people to accept support from external agencies – e.g., 

platform, CYPS 

 Matching of placements when there is a vacancy 

 Proactively support specific young people to engage in education, employment, 
or training 

 Monitor dynamics between specific young people 
 

38. The recommendations have all been acted upon and risks managed well and are 

reviewed at each Reg 44 visit 
 

39. There are still some challenges especially in relation to missing episodes, drug and 
alcohol use and group dynamics, however this is the nature of residential homes and 
staff have implemented appropriate multiagency disruption plans and are working on 

different incentives with the young people to help improve their outcomes. 
 

40. In Grove House, the themes are lightly different, as the young people do not have the 
same needs and risk-taking behaviours. The reg 44 recommendations have been 
around 

 

 Paperwork not being in place in a timely manner – i.e. updated CIN 

assessments. 

 Rewards not always being recorded in rewards book. 

 Compliments not always being recorded. 

 Evaluation forms not always being completed by young people. 
 

41. Following inspections of all 4 homes the Regulation 44 visitor is ensuring she is 
visiting when children are around so that their voices are clearly recorded in her 

reports 
 

5 Year Plan 

 
42. A 5-year plan was proposed and accepted by Cabinet in 2019 to increase our internal 

residential and fostering provision as it was recognised placement sufficiency and 

placement stability were an issue. This included 
 

 Two 2/3 bedded children’s home. One of these was originally going to be an 
assessment unit, however after further research it is recognised that both of 

these need to be long term homes 

 A three bedded children’s home for children with autism/complex needs 

 Specialist team specifically for our residential provisions to promote Trauma 

informed practice and promote placement stability 

 increase our in-house fostering resources, to include: 

 
 -  single placements for complex young people 

 - placements for sibling groups 
 -  Implement the Mockingbird model 

  

Page 56



 

 
43. Progress has been made on the following 

 

 Kites Rise – 3 bedded therapeutic Home has been opened 

 A property has been identified for either another therapeutic home or the home 
for children with autism/complex needs. Planning permission is currently in 

 The specialist team have been appointed and will start in January 2022 

 Recruitment of foster carers is ongoing 

 We are part of the regional Mockingbird pilot, which has just been announced.  

 
RECOMMENDATION – The Board is asked to note the information contained in the report 

and agree the timescale for future reports 
 

CONTACT:   Jill Little  

  Service Manager   
  Extension:  3420 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

14 December 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT:  Support to care experienced young people 
 

REPORT OF:   Caroline O’Neill, Strategic Director Children, Adults and 
Families 

 

 

Purpose of the Report  

 

1. To update the Corporate Parenting Board on how the service supports care 
experienced young people (care leavers). With a special focus on the impact of 
the COVID -19 pandemic and other issues facing them, such as increasing living 

costs, access to health services and accessing education employment and 
training.  

 
2. The report will also look at some current and future development areas.  

 
Background 

 
3. The report to OSC from September 2017 set out the developments made around 

our care leavers charter and the principles by which we seek to support care 
experienced young people. These principles remain at the center of what we do 

to support Gateshead’s care experienced young people and drives forward what 
we seek to offer them and how we support them in their transitions from young 
people to young adults.  

 
4. Our offer to care leavers is called Gateshead’s got your back and information 

about this is available through the care leavers app. Details about the offer can be 
found via this link Gateshead's Local Offer for care leavers - Gateshead Council. 
The core principles are. 

 

 Respect us 

 Listen to us 

 Work with us 

 Believe in us 

 Hold aspirations for us 

 Make sure we have somewhere to call home 

 Don’t forget about us 
 
 
How we monitor our support to our care experienced young adults 

 

5. The care experienced service (Leaving Care Team) consists of 1 Team manager 

who is a qualified social worker, 1 Senior Personal Advisor and 7 full time 
equivalent Personal Advisors. This means that the average case load for a 
worker is 14 young people. All Personal advisors are also allocated to children in 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gateshead.gov.uk/article/11176/Gateshead-s-Local-Offer-for-care-leavers


 

our care at the age of 16. They co work these cases until they become the young 
person primary worker at 18.   

 
6. There are currently 223 young people open to the service, however 117 of these 

are open for support and guidance as they are aged over 21 and no longer 

allocated a full-time worker. These young adults are supported through the duty 
worker system as and when they require it and can be reallocated a Personal 

Advisor if they have ongoing support needs. 
 

7. The structure of the team means that workers are able to provide young people 

with a responsive, person centered service built on relational practice models that 
ensure that young people can access support as and when they need to.  

 

8. As a service we receive daily data from the performance team. This data covers 
the key performance areas to make sure that all our young people are getting the 

service they are entitled to from their Personal Advisors. These areas are, contact 
with the young person, case supervision, a live active pathway plan on file and 

case activity over the last 30 days. Receiving this data daily helps us to identify 
and rectify any issues quickly and this makes sure there is robust management 
and service management oversight.  

 
Support to Care Leavers at the height of the COVID-19 Pandemic  
 

9. During the pandemic we offered increased contact with our care leavers and the 
Personal Advisors ensured they maintained regular telephone contact. This was 

often weekly or daily for our more vulnerable young people.  
 

10. Young people told us they enjoyed this increased contact and felt they got to 

know their Personal Advisors better. During the COVID 19 pandemic the 
Department for Education (Dfe) asked local authorities to contact all the children 

and young people that they are involved with every 4 weeks. The service met this 
challenge and have consistently contact all their care experienced young adults at 
least every 4 weeks.  

 
11. Care experienced young people tell us that they enjoyed Personal Advisors 

ringing for a chat to see how they were. They also found that their Personal 
Advisors were more available during lockdown, and they were able to contact 
them more easily if they had a problem, they needed help with as Personal 

Advisors were not travelling to visits or meetings as frequently. 
 

12. Whilst we continued to offer a duty service, we found that young people were no 
longer accessing this in the same way that they had been in the past, and 
Personal Advisors were able to offer crisis support to the young people they 

worked with more easily. Whilst most contact was by telephone, Personal 
Advisors also met young people to go for walks regularly where this was felt 

necessary. Doorstep visits were made where there were any concerns for a 
young person’s welfare, and they needed to be seen. 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 YTD 
2021/22 

Number of care leavers 
we are in touch with  

111 115 117 114 

 
*Lates available statistical comparative data runs from 2016-2020 

Page 60



 

 

 
 

Accommodation  
 

13. Without young people having somewhere appropriate to live, it is unlikely they 

would be able to sustain education, employment, or training opportunities, this is 
particularly true for young people exiting the care system who often have limited 

support available to them, outside of the professional that care for and support 
them. Improving the quality and choice of housing is crucial to improving the 
stability and engagement of care leavers in education, employment, and training. 

 
14. Currently accommodation for young people leaving care on their 18th birthday is 

predominantly with their foster carers. This is a positive step in the right direction 
from previous practice and ensures that young people move on when the time is 
right for them, not just because they are suddenly seen as being an adult once 

they are 18 years old.  
 

15. As can be seen from the graphs bellow Gateshead offers ‘Staying Put’ 
placements to a much higher proportion of young people on their 18 th birthday 
(43%) compared to both statistical neighbors and the national average.  

 
16. Other young people who are not going into ‘Staying Put’ arrangements with a 

foster carer are referred to the Supported Accommodation and Independent living 

Service (SAILS) Panel. We have reviewed this process over the last 12 months 
along with the staying put process. Young people are now referred into the SAILS 

Panel at 17 and a half if they will not be staying put. This gives panel, young 
people, and their care teams the time needed to make plans for post 18 yrs 
accommodation as well as identifying what level of support they will need.  

 

Page 61



 

17. Currently 98.2% of care experienced young people are living in suitable 
accommodation. There are only 2 young people deemed as not being in suitable 

accommodation. This relates to two young men who are in custody.    
 
*Lates available statistical comparative data runs from 2016-2020 

 
 

Financial Support 
 

18. Gateshead’s service to our care experienced young people offer a wide range of 

critical financial support. The primary focus of the financial support is to assist our 
young people who are living independently and either in employment, training, or 

education.  
 

19. The support we offer includes.  

 

 Weekly living allowance of £60 per week where benefits are not in place or the 

young person is not entitled to claim benefits.   

 A winter fuel allowances is available to young people living in independent 

accommodation between the months of November and March. This is paid at 
£30 per month. 

 Where young people are living semi-independently or independently and are 

engaged in employment, education or training, incentive payments are paid of 
up to £70 per month. 

 For each young person who completes a year of full-time or equivalent study, 
an education bonus of £25 is paid. 

Page 62



 

 Young People in further education will receive up to £6000 per year to assist 
with accommodation or education costs.  

 Young people aged between 16yrs – 19yrs attending training courses can 
claim a bursary of £60 per week. 

 Where young people are moving into independent accommodation a setting 

up home allowance is available up to £2000 to support with this transition and 
purchase the items, they need to set up their first home. 

 The service recognises a young person’s birthday by giving them a birthday 
allowance of £20 between the age of 18 to 20 years with a final birthday 

payment of £50 at 21 years 
 

20. A recent review of payments and financial support to our care experienced young 

people has been undertaken due to the withdrawal of the £20 Universal Credit 
uplift, the increase in energy prices and the rate of inflation currently at around 

4.2%.  
 

21. Initially it is agreed that an increase of £10 in the winter fuel payment for the 20 

young people who live independently (increased from £20 per month to £30 per 
month for the 5 winter months) will be paid.  

 
22. The Care Experienced Services complies with Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 

in the financial assistance and support offered to people leaving care and will 

support a young person continuing in a pathway of education and training until 
their 25th birthday.  

 
Education, employment and training 
 

23. The covid pandemic has impacted on the number of our care experienced young 
people not in education, employment, or training (NEET). Many job losses were 

due to young people being employed on zero-hours contracts and 16–17-year-old 
young people who were preparing to leave care who were engaged in training, as 
some struggled to work remotely or attend online classes. This has led to a higher 

rate of young people disengaging from courses. 
 

24. Work has been undertaken to address this with colleagues from the Education, 
Employment and Training (EET) panel continuing to meet monthly to monitor care 
experienced young people’s progress, their plans, and the difficulties they face. 

Young people who are NEET or who are at risk of becoming NEET are discussed 
and options and interventions for them considered. Plans are made to address 

these issues and provide appropriate opportunities for these young people. 
 

25. EET panel have worked to ensure the correct membership sits on the panel and 

the service have links with local colleges and training providers to monitor 
learner’s progress. The service is then able to link in with social workers and 

Personal Advisors to address any identified issues. 
 

26. The service links in with the Virtual school to identify work experience 

opportunities for care experienced young people. The service has worked with all 
Directorates within the Council to improve the apprenticeship offer for our care 

experienced young people and Personal Advisors have worked with training 
providers to support applications.  

 

 

Page 63



 

27. Links have been made with the Care Leavers Covenant and Gateshead Council 
have signed up to the membership as a whole council approach. This work is in 

the early stages and will explore the benefits of membership and EET 
opportunities available through covenant partnerships. Here is a link to the care 
leavers covenant Home - Care Leaver Covenant (mycovenant.org.uk).   

 
28. The NEET figures are beginning to decrease with 63.2% of care leavers being in 

some form of EET in September this year. This shows that the decrease seen 
during the pandemic is being turned round as learners can attend courses in 
person and there are increased employment opportunities.  

 

 
 

29. The service was also sucessful in securing 3 posts for young ambassodors roles 
and these have been sucessfully recruited to, all of the candidates are care 
experienced young people 18yrs and over. They will take up posts soon and will 

be working for 6 hours per week. Their role will be varied and will look to influence 
our practice and service delivery, not only in the care experienced service but 

across Children’s Services.  
 
Health and Wellbeing 

 

30. During the pandemic the NHS estimates that there was an increase in the 
number of adults experiencing some form of depression from 1 in 10 to 1 in 6. 

Statistically care experienced young people are overrepresented within mental 
health services and they tend to experience poorer health outcomes in general.  

 

31. As a response to this the CCG and the local authority work alongside third sector 
organisation Digital Voice to consult care experienced young people around their 

experiences of using health services, the animation they produced can be 
accessed through the following link https://youtu.be/H0aKQGtQ7KM .  

 
32. The amination was shown at a panel event which included the young people 

involved. The young people shared valuable information about the barriers they 

experience in accessing health services. In response Newcastle Gateshead CCG 
and Gateshead are working on a pilot project to supply a cohort of care 

experienced young people with bus passes, enabling them to travel and access 
health services and maintain relationships with those people close to them.  A 
project will be evaluated.  

 
33. The panel event can be accessed through the following link 

https://youtu.be/YZE7PZGFI8A . This is an excellent example of experts by 
experience influencing practice and service delivery.  

 

 

Page 64

https://mycovenant.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/H0aKQGtQ7KM
https://youtu.be/YZE7PZGFI8A


 

34. There has also been intensive work carried out, alongside internal and external 
partners to support with the transition of young people with Autistic Spectrum 

Disorder (ASD) and Learning Difficulties (LD). This work will ensure that all young 
people who have additional needs including those in our care, have the right 

plans, service provision and accommodation for when they become adults. This 
work has included the Transitions Team within Adult Services, the Children with 
Disabilities Team, the Clinical Commission Group (CCG), Continued Health Care 

(CHC) and Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS Foundation Trust. 
Discussions have led to the development of an Ages & Stages document which 

provides clear guidance to staff on how to support young people, their families, 
and their carers with transitions to adulthood. This work will be reflected in our 
local Tri.x procedures. 

 
Issues for Corporate Parenting Board to consider 

 

35. Given the information contained within this report CPP may want to consider the 
level of support offered to care experienced young people and the following  

 

 The current financial offer to care experienced young people and the review 

that will be conducted 

 Support to care experienced young people in accessing training, education, 
and employment and how they are support with this 

 Whether the board would welcome a further update on the pilot supporting 
care experienced young people to access health appointments and maintain 

relationships with those closest to them 
 
Recommendations 

 
36. The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to: - 

 

 Note the contents of the report  

 Consider the progress and the level of support Care leavers are 
receiving in Gateshead 

 Acknowledge whether the board would welcome a further report on the 

support offer care leavers 
 

 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact: Ben van Wagtendonk    ext 2797 
benvanwagtendonk@gatehsead.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 

14 December 2021 
 

 
TITLE OF REPORT: Ofsted Focused Visit – Front Door of Children’s Services 
 

REPORT OF: Strategic Director, Children Adults and Families 
 

 
Purpose of the Report  

 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide information on the outcome of the 
visit carried out by Ofsted as part of the new ILAC (Inspections of Local 

Authority Children’s Services). Ofsted undertook an on-site, focused visit of 

Gateshead’s Children’s Services on 22-23rd September 2021 to evaluate 

the quality of help and protection provided to vulnerable children and their 
families in the ‘front door’ integrated referral team (IRT) and in the 

assessment and intervention service (A&I). 
 

2. The team of Her Majesty’s Inspectors met with social workers and their 
managers and looked in detail at children’s records. In addition, inspectors 

appraised the quality and impact of the local authority’s performance 
management and audit arrangements.  

 

3. Full report, as well as the presentation delivered to Ofsted on the first day 
of the inspection can be found attached at Appendix 1. 

 
 
Background 

4. In January 2018 Ofsted published a new inspection framework and 
guidance for inspecting local authority services for children in need of help 

and protection, children in care and care leavers. The new framework 
judges the effectiveness of local authority services and arrangements: 

 

 To help and protect children. 

 The experiences and progress of children in care wherever they live, 

including those who return home. 

 The arrangements for permanence for children who are looked after, 

including adoption. 

 The experience and progress of care leavers. 
 

Focused Visits 
 

5. Focused visits evaluate an aspect of service, a theme or the experiences 

of a cohort of children. 
 

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

 

6. Inspectors will not make graded judgements (inadequate, requires 
improvement, good or outstanding). Nor will they indicate what the grade 

may have been if the visit had been a short or standard inspection. The 
outcome will be findings about strengths and areas for improvement, 

reported in a letter. 
 

7. Where inspectors find serious weaknesses, they will identify areas for 

priority action. 
 

8. An area for priority action is either: 
 

• An area of serious weakness that is placing children at risk of 

inadequate protection and significant harm. 
 

Or 

 

• Unnecessary delay in identifying permanent solutions for children in 

care that results in their welfare not being safeguarded and promoted. 
 

9. Inspectors will use findings from focused visits when planning their next 

short or standard inspection, the evidence from a focused visit will not be 
used as primary evidence but may enable inspectors to target their 

evidence gathering more effectively. 
 

10. Gateshead’s Children’s Services was last inspected in May 2019 when the 

services provided to children were judged to be consistently, and strongly, 
good in all areas of the work. 

 

In the News 
 

11. The following extract is taken from an article in the Community Care 

publication 27th October 2021 praising Gateshead for the quality of 
services delivered: 

 

https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2021/10/27/inadequate-councils-

make- progress-in-latest-ofsted-visits/ 
 

Strong praise for North East authority: 

 

Meanwhile, in a report today, Ofsted strongly praised good-rated 

Gateshead following a visit that focused on services at the front door. 

 

Inspectors said the North East authority’s “highly skilled, committed 

and caring social workers” and managers provided “sensitive, 
innovative, child-centred help and protection” to children. 

Page 68

https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2021/10/27/inadequate-councils-make-progress-in-latest-ofsted-visits/
https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2021/10/27/inadequate-councils-make-progress-in-latest-ofsted-visits/
https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2021/10/27/inadequate-councils-make-progress-in-latest-ofsted-visits/


 

 

Most assessments were “comprehensive and analytical”, clearly 

reflecting the child’s voice and experiences, while there was a 
“resolute focus” on understanding the impact of domestic abuse, 
parental substance misuse and mental ill-health and neglect. 

 

 

This was backed up by “rigorous” performance management and 
“strong, effective and ambitious senior leadership” under director of 
children’s services Caroline O’Neill. 

 

Summary of the Ofsted Visit Sept 2021: 

 

12. ‘Gateshead's highly skilled, committed and caring social workers and their 
managers in the front door teams provide sensitive, innovative child-

centred help and protection to most children seen during the visit. 
Continuously strong, ambitious and effective senior leadership has 

resulted in sustained improvements. The well- respected and experienced 
director of children's services (DCS), together with her senior team, has 
created a culture where 

doing the right thing to help children and their families is embedded across 

teams. 
 

Closely aligned, mature professional partnerships work together effectively 

to safeguard children from harm. Thresholds are understood well and 
scrutinised frequently. There is consistent and commendable evidence of 

continuous innovation and improvement during the COVID-19 
(coronavirus) pandemic. Senior leaders are fittingly proud of their staff's 
commitment and determination throughout this period to see vulnerable 

children and their families face to face. Staff report that they feel valued in 
their work and professional development and that their personal well-being 

is prioritised. 
 

Performance management is effective. Leaders are intending to take 

action to strengthen their audit function by including the views of children 
and parents. Managers' inconsistent evaluation in supervision and lack of 

direction around alternative ways of working, along with an absence of 
contingency planning, contribute to delay for a small number of children.’ 

 

13. Ofsted was very complimentary about Gateshead’s ability to continue to 
innovate under unprecedented demand and pressure even during a global 

pandemic: 
 

despite the unprecedented challenges posed by the pandemic, a strong 

culture of outward-looking, continuous learning and accountability meant 
that Gateshead continued to innovate, and to take forward the new 

initiatives.’ 
 

 

Page 69



 

 

14. Ofsted identified the following areas for improvement: 

 

 The quality and impact of supervision and contingency planning for 
children in need. 

 The routine inclusion of the views of children and their families in audits. 

 

When will Gateshead receive a full, graded Ofsted inspection of Children’s 
Services? 

 

15. According to Ofsted there is no fixed cycle or end date for the programme 

of re- inspections. Under the current ILACS inspection schedule, Ofsted 
uses the intelligence and information they have to inform discussions 
about when and how best to inspect each local authority. 

 

16. Ofsted has stated: 

 

‘There will be times when concerns arise about a local authority. The 
regional director will decide whether to undertake an inspection (standard 

or short inspection) at which Ofsted will make a graded judgement, or 
whether a focused visit would be more appropriate.’ 

 

17. In most cases, if the next standard or short inspection is not due, Ofsted 
determine to carry out a focused visit. This is intended to give  the  local 

authority and Ofsted the opportunity to identify what is going well and what 
needs to improve before the next judgement inspection happens. 

 

18. Ofsted says this approach aims to support improvement while still holding 
the local authority to account in meeting their legal responsibilities to 

children in need of help, protection and care. 

19. Ofsted will inspect local authorities based on the intelligence they have 

about them and the most recent Ofsted judgement, which for Gateshead 
was ‘good’. The timing of standard and short inspections will usually be 

within six months before or after the three-year anniversary. 
 

20. The Covid pandemic has impacted on the normal cycle of inspections so it 

is anticipated that Gateshead will receive a full re-inspection in 2022 or 
2023. A significant advantage of receiving a very positive focused visit is 

that Ofsted will not be in any hurry to re-inspect Gateshead. However, a 
change of DCS will be taken into account in determining the timing of the 
next inspection. 

 
 
Recommendations 
 

21. It is recommended that Corporate Parenting Board:  

 

 Notes the outcome of the Ofsted visit September 2021 and considers 

the implications for children in Gateshead  
Page 70



 

 

 Receives a post Ofsted action plan so it can monitor progress against 

the areas Ofsted identified for improvement. 

 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Contact:  Andrea Houlahan ext. 2872  

 

  

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



ofsted
t 

 

 

 

Ofsted. 

Piccadilly Gate 

Store Street 

Manchester 

M12WD 

 
T 0300 123 1231 

Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

w ww.gov.uk/ofsted 

 

raising standards 
improving lives 

 
 

 

 

27 October 2021 

 
Caroline O'Neill 

Strategic Director of Children, Adults and Families Gateshead 

Civic Centre 

Regent Street 
Gateshead 
NEB lHH 

 
Dear Caroline, 

 
Focused visit to Gateshead children's services 

 
This letter summarises the findings of a focused visit to Gateshead children's 

services on 22 to 23 September 2021. Her Majesty's Inspectors for this visit were 

Brenda McLaughlin, Vicky Metheringham and Louise Walker (HMI designate). 

 
Inspectors evaluated the quality of help and protection provided to vulnerable 

children and their families in the 'front door' integrated referral team (IRT) and in  

the assessment and intervention team (AIT). They met with social workers and their 

managers and looked in detail at children's records. In addition, inspectors appraised 

the quality and impact of the local authority's performance management and audit 

arrangements. 
 

This visit was carried out in line with the inspection of local authority children's 

services (ILACS) framework. 
 

Headline findings 

 

Gateshead's highly skilled, committed and caring social  workers  and their  managers 

in the front door teams provide  sensitive,  innovative  child-centred  help  and 

protection to most children seen during the visit. Continuously strong, ambitious and 

effective senior leadership has resulted in sustained improvements.  The well 

respected and experienced director of children's services (DCS), together with her 

senior team, has created a culture where doing the right thing to  help children  and 

their families is embedded across teams. 
 

Closely aligned, mature professional partnerships work together effectively to 

safeguard children from harm. Thresholds are understood well, and scrutinised 

frequently. There is consistent and commendable evidence of continuous innovation 

and improvement during the COVID-19 (coronavirus) pandemic. Senior leaders are 

Page 73

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


Ofsted 
fittingly proud of their staff's  commitment  and determination  throughout  this  period 

to see vulnerable children and their families face to face. Staff report that they feel 

valued in their work and professional development  and that their personal  well-being 

is prioritised. 
 

Performance management is effective. Leaders are intending to take action to 

strengthen their audit function by including the views of children and parents. 

Managers' inconsistent evaluation in supervision and lack of direction around 

alternative ways of working, along with an absence of contingency planning, 

contribute to delay for a small number of children. 

What needs to improve in this area of social work practice 

■ The quality and impact of supervision and contingency planning for children in 
need. 

■ The routine inclusion of the views of children and their families in audits. 

 
Main findings 

 
Contact and referrals for children in need or at risk of harm are managed effectively 

in the IRT. Social workers and managers make prompt, well-informed decisions 

about what help and protection are required. 

 
Decisions by managers to step up and down to early help services are appropriate. 

Partner agencies have a shared understanding of thresholds, augmented by the daily 

multi-agency triage meeting, which includes the early help service. Proportionate 

checks are undertaken with professionals; they work closely together and collaborate 

well. As a result, most  children  and families  get the right level  of help and protection 

at the right time, delivered by very  committed  and  skilled  professionals. This is 

making a difference to their day-to-day lives and is keeping them safer. Parental 

consent to share information is sought routinely, or appropriately  overridden  if 

required. 

 
Responses to children at risk of harm are timely and effective. Visits are carried out 

swiftly by IRT staff when they are concerned about children's immediate welfare, 

and this is a real strength. Multi-agency child protection strategy meetings are used 

constructively to share information about children, leading to well-informed decisions 

about what needs to happen next to protect them from harm. Inspectors agree with 

a recent independent audit of strategy meetings and child protection enquiries, 

which concluded that children and their families receive a proportionate response. 

 
Most assessments of vulnerable children are comprehensive and analytical. They 

demonstrate effective and thoughtful engagement with families and a good 

understanding of children's needs. They are thorough and clearly reflect the child's 

voice and experiences. However, some are not updated regularly. 

Page 74



Ofsted 
Diligent work by staff across all front door teams, including the out of hours service, 

demonstrates a resolute focus on understanding the impact of domestic abuse, 

parental substance misuse, and poor mental health and neglect. Competent 

examples were seen of social workers using an array of direct-work tools to evaluate 

how these and other vulnerabilities interact with the ability of parents to provide 

stable, safe and consistent care for their children. 

 
Risks and strengths are identified and carefully analysed, and consistently informed 

by the family's previous history. The child's views and lived experiences are central to 

most decisions, plans and planning. Effective, proportionate action is taken, 

protecting children from harm. Respectful inclusion of parental and extended family 

members' views during assessments is recorded well but parental needs do not 

eclipse those of children. Difficult and honest conversations are conducted 

appropriately, resulting in many parents working collaboratively and openly with 

social workers. Good-quality children-in-need plans are evident, but a minority of 

children remain on these plans too long without the requisite review. 

 

Management direction is clearly articulated on children's records in the IRT. 

Supervision in the AIT is regular but recording by managers is perfunctory and lacks 

analysis and clarity on what needs to happen next. It does not include an ongoing 

evaluation of whether timely progress is being made. Contingency thinking and 

planning are limited, leading to delay for a small number of children. Regular 

management reviews of children's progress at 10 and 28 days are conducted. 

However, children in need whose assessments remain ongoing do not benefit from 

similar scrutiny beyond 28 days. 

 
Leaders have recognised the need to strengthen  services  and systems to  monitor 

and assess the impact of work with vulnerable  adolescents,  those  missing  from 

home and children at risk of exploitation. Action to appoint dedicated specialist staff is 

beginning to make a difference, but the alignment of services and systems to monitor 

and assess the impact of this work is not yet fully embedded to ensure that risks to 
children are fully understood and addressed quickly. 

 
Performance management is rigorous. Leaders have an accurate grip on Frontline 

practice, supported by reliable real-time data. Leaders at all levels regularly 

investigate variances and emerging concerns in monthly performance clinics, chaired 

by the deputy strategic director. For example, a monthly missing-from-care meeting 

led by the senior management team identified that the number of children engaging 

in their missing-from-care interviews was not good enough. Consequently, a 

dedicated missing-from-care coordinator post has been created and this is beginning 

to make a substantial difference. 

 
Senior leaders 'paused' routine audits in February 2021 due to the increase in 

referrals and pressures on team managers and staff as a result of the pandemic. 

However, they have continued to carry out thematic audits. Auditors focus on 

measuring the quality of the work and whether children are being helped and 

Page 75



-K
•
K'X• 

Ofstea 
safeguarded. Leaders are intending to take action to include the views of children 

and their parents during audits. 

 
The DCS has an accurate view of the service she leads and shows exceptionally 

strong, stable leadership and commitment to continued improvement, working 

adroitly to progress the small number of areas for improvement that remain. There 

is no complacency. For example, despite the unprecedented challenges posed by the 

pandemic, a strong culture of outward-looking, continuous learning and 

accountability meant that Gateshead continued to innovate, and appoint more staff 

to take forward the new initiatives. They pioneered the successful development of a 

new social workers in schools team across six secondary schools, leading to earlier 

intervention and prevention of harm to children. This initiative is now being 

extended to include more schools. In addition, an independently commissioned peer 

review of the complex children-in-need team is leading to an enhanced service to 

children at risk of coming into care. 

 
Ofsted will take the findings from this focused visit into account when planning your 

next inspection or visit. 

 
Yours sincerely 

 
 

 
 

Brenda McLaughlin 

Her Majesty's Inspector 

Page 76


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of last meeting
	3 Education Annual Report
	Education - Virtual School Report 2021

	4 Adoption Service Annual Report
	5 Health and Wellbeing of LAC Report
	6 Early Permanence Annual Report
	7 Children's Homes Report
	8 Care Experienced Service Annual Report
	9 Ofsted Focused Visit Outcome
	Ofsted Focus Visit Outcome Letter


